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Highland Gold Mining Limited is a gold producer with 
significant reserves and a strong growth profile based 
on a portfolio that currently comprises two producing 
assets, Mnogovershinnoye and Darasun, and three  
late-stage development projects, Novoshirokinskoye, 
Taseevskoye and Mayskoye, all of which are located in 
Russia. Our aim, within the next few years, is to become 
a producer of one million ounces of gold per annum.

RUSSIA – 
INVESTING IN
GROWTH

Our strategy is focused on:
> maximising the efficiency of mines  
 already in production;
> developing existing projects to bring 
 them into production;
> exploring selected sites we consider 
 have high development potential;
> acquiring further suitable development 
 opportunities in Russia and the FSU.

The successful implementation of our 
strategy depends on our ability to combine:
> a world class asset base;
> a technically skilled and commercially 
 focused Russian management team;
> local knowledge, enabling detailed 
 market understanding and the early
 identification of new opportunities;
> access to international capital markets;
> western standards of corporate 
 governance and disclosure.

Highland Gold Mining Limited has been  
quoted on the Alternative Investment Market 
(AIM) of the London Stock Exchange since 
flotation in December, 2002.
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US$000s (unless stated)   2004  2003 % change

Production (oz)   199,896 194,000 3
Turnover   82,062 71,578 15
EBITDA   25,610 32,264 -21
Operating profit   18,784 27,892 -33
Profit before tax   14,229 24,632 -42
Net profit   5,011 18,049 -72
Earnings per share (cents)   4 16 -75
Cash generated from operations  25,610 32,743 -22
Net cash flow from operations  10,455 7,602 37
Capital expenditure   69,168 56,883 22
Dividends per share (cents)   2 3 -33

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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> Overall gold production up 2.5 per cent to 199,896 oz
> Gold production at MNV up for 6th consecutive year
> Darasun commissioned, expected to reach full production in H2 2005
>  Three key licences for Talatui, Novoshirokinskoye and  

Taseevskoye obtained
> Further progress with feasibility studies at Novoshirokinskoye  
 and Mayskoye
> Strategic partnership with Barrick Gold announced raising 
 US$40 million of equity financing and paving the way for joint 
 project development
> Acquisition of Taseevskoye, further extending our asset base 
> Asset base increased by 72 per cent to US$337 million
> Successful further equity placing of US$100 million
> US$80 million debt financing arranged 
> Restructured board to drive business forward

POST YEAR END
> Strengthening of partnership with Barrick Gold
- agreement on joint development of Taseevskoye  
- progress with exploration joint venture 
- appointment of Barrick director to the Board
> Acquisition of Sredne-Golgotayskoye
 an exploration project close to Taseevskoye
> Bond issue of US$27 million to fund further development

> Produce 270,000 oz of gold from MNV and Darasun
> Bring Darasun mill into full production
> Prepare to bring our third project, Novoshirokinskoye, into production
> Complete ongoing feasibility studies
> Work with Barrick to progress strategic partnership, starting with 
 Taseevskoye project
> Continue to take advantage of acquisition opportunities for 
 development and exploration projects in Russia and the FSU

2004 KEY EVENTS 2005 GOALS
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With physical assets and operational 
management located wholly in Russia, supported 
by an international board of directors, Highland 
Gold is uniquely placed to exploit the potential  
of the Russian gold industry.

The priority over the past year has been to 
secure the long-term future of the Company.  
In spite of a number of operational challenges, 
we have successfully broadened the 
geographical and operational base of the 
business, whilst maintaining output at our 
existing producing assets. We have also laid 
the financial foundations for future growth.

Overview of Activities During 2004
2004 was a challenging year for Highland Gold. 
The Company responded by implementing its 
strategy of continued growth by pursuing three 
major aspects of its long-term policy, namely 
developing the assets already acquired, 
expanding exploration and looking for possible 
new acquisitions in Russia and the former 
Soviet Republics.

Our core producing mine, MNV, with gold 
production of 195,026 oz in 2004, showed 
improved results for the sixth consecutive year 
with increased throughput to 927,000 tonnes  
of ore. A new mill was commissioned at our 
second working mine – Darasun – which 
produced 4,870 oz of gold in the year. Darasun 
is expected to reach full production in the 
second half of 2005.

While our full year results show a net profit 
after tax of US$5.0 million, which is down from 
2003, our operations have continued to generate 
a healthy cash flow of US$25.6 million before 
the investment in working capital that has  
been required to expand other aspects of our 
business. Although these results have clearly 
benefited from a stronger gold price during the 
year, we have suffered from escalating costs  
of consumables. There has also been an 
additional requirement for administrative 
resources as we broaden our development 
activities. The Board has considered the cash 
requirements for the capital projects of the 
Group and will therefore recommend to 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting  
a reduced final dividend of US$0.01 per share 
(US$0.015 – 2003).

It is with deep regret that I report we have  
had three fatalities amongst our workforce at 
Darasun during the year. I would like to convey 
our condolences to the families and the 
communities and re-iterate our commitment  
to providing a safe and healthy work 
environment for all of our employees.

The Company won at an open auction the right 
to develop a third deposit in the Chita region – 
Taseevskoye – and shortly after obtained a  
20-year licence for the site for a consideration 
of US$26.8 million. Our strategic partner and 
shareholder, Barrick Gold Corporation of 
Canada, has confirmed its intention to exercise 
its 50 per cent right to the Taseevskoye deposit.

In early 2005 we won at an open auction,  
with a bid of US$0.4 million, a further licence 
for exploration and production rights in the 
Chita region for the Sredne-Golgotayskoye 
deposit. Given the close proximity of the 
projects in the region there are significant 
logistical and managerial synergies.

Finally, at our largest asset located in the 
Chukotka region, Mayskoye, work progressed 
on the feasibility study, camp construction and 
the installment of communications and power 
supply systems. The results of bioleaching tests 
for recovery rates on bulk samples of ore from 
Mayskoye were encouraging. Following 
completion of the feasibility study at Mayskoye 
which is due to be delivered shortly, Highland 
Gold and Barrick Gold will discuss possible 
participation arrangements in connection with 
the development of the deposit. 

On the financial side, we successfully completed 
two share placings, raising a total of US$140 
million for Highland Gold’s development.  
The Company also negotiated a 3.5 year, US$80 
million syndicated banking facility. This is  
an important financial step in strengthening 
our relationship with the international  
banking community.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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The Board and Management
In December 2004 and February 2005 we 
appointed Tim Wadeson and David Fish as Non-
Executive Directors respectively. Tim Wadeson 
has extensive experience in the gold mining 
industry, having been Technical and Executive 
Director at Anglo American. David Fish, also 
from Anglo American, has corporate finance 
expertise and thus will head the Audit 
Committee. Under the terms of the agreements 
entered into last year Barrick Gold has the 
right at the present time to nominate one 
Director to the Board of Highland Gold. I am 
pleased to advise that Alex Davidson, Executive 
Vice-President responsible for exploration and 
corporate development joins the Board with 
immediate effect.

Furthermore, the Management team has  
been restructured by appointing Ivan Koulakov, 
former Managing Director, to the post of 
Deputy Chairman, with executive responsibility 
for corporate development. This appointment 
will allow him to focus more on new 
opportunities in Russia and the former Soviet 
Union – one of Highland Gold’s strategic 
priorities. Dmitry Korobov, former Commercial 
Director, was appointed Managing Director.  
His operational experience will permit him to 
deal successfully with the development of the 
Company’s assets. Both Ivan and Dmitry were 
instrumental in creating Highland Gold in the 
late 1990s.

Christopher Palmer-Tomkinson, who has been 
with Highland Gold since 2002, was appointed 
Senior Independent Director, reflecting our 
commitment to meeting best practice standards 
in corporate governance.

Peter Daresbury stepped down as Chairman  
of the Board – a post he held from May 2002. 
Under Peter’s Chairmanship Highland Gold 
was successfully floated on AIM and further 
developed its world class assets with the 
acquisitions of Mayskoye and Taseevskoye.  
On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank 
Peter for his tireless efforts for Highland Gold.

Our achievements would not have been possible 
without one of Highland Gold’s main assets, 
the people who work for the Company in 
Moscow and in the small mining towns spread 
across the Eastern part of Siberia. They have 
the necessary geological, mining and 
metallurgical skills and strong ambition to 
make Highland Gold one of the leaders in  
the gold mining business in Russia. As the 
Company’s operations expanded and became 
more complex in 2004, we also attracted  
new skilled professionals to the Company. 

Going Forward
The Board remains strongly committed to the 
major principles of good corporate governance, 
such as a clear division of executive 
responsibilities at the head of the Company for 
the effective running of the business, and the 
appropriate balance of executive and non-
executive directors for proper and unbiased 
decision taking.

An important factor in Highland Gold’s strength 
and growth are the constructive and open 
relationships which the Company enjoys  
with the federal, regional and local authorities 
in Russia. In 2004 our Management team 
strengthened the perception of Highland Gold 
as an active and responsible presence 
contributing to the development of Russia’s 
most remote territories.

The Governors of the three Regions where 
Highland Gold operates fully understand  
the importance of the Company’s investment  
in projects for the economic and social 
development of their respective territories. 
They are well aware of the fact that the gold 
mining business requires significant financial, 
technical and human resources. This is why 
they value the long-term strategic commitment 
of Highland Gold. We wish to thank the 
Governors and their administrations for  
their support of our endeavours.

As part of our responsible approach, we are 
striving to achieve stricter environmental 
programmes at our mines, broadening health 
and safety measures to bring them in line with 
best international standards and to improve  
the quality of life in the communities where 
Highland Gold is one of the largest employers.

One of the most significant developments of 
2004 was our announcement in January that 
we had formed a strategic partnership with the 
Canadian gold major, Barrick Gold. Barrick and 
Highland Gold have complementary strengths. 
While Barrick Gold has long experience of 
exploration and greenfield development, plus 
considerable financial resources, Highland 
Gold has the knowledge and skills to operate 
successfully in Russia. Our initial four-year 
partnership which is extendable beyond that, 
gives us much greater flexibility for project 
development in Russia. It has already resulted 
in the agreement to form a JV company 
focused on exploration and the potential for 
sharing technical and financial expertise. 
Barrick Gold has the right to participate in the 
development of new projects. We look forward 
to the continuation of a rewarding relationship 
between our two companies in 2005.

In all this we have been helped by the fact  
that Russia offers a consistently improving 
macroeconomic climate. Over the past several 
years the volume of direct investment in 
Russian industry has increased. The introduction 
of Western reporting principles contributed  
to the development of an improved business 
culture. Further reform of the tax, administrative 
and social systems will make the economy 
more efficient. Continued political stability  
will help us plan for the future with confidence.
A stable political and macro-economic 
environment in Russia is critical in making  
our business plans for the future.

I believe that our efforts will be supported by  
a robust international gold market. The recovery 
of the international gold price since 2002 has 
been sustained, underpinned by strong physical 
demand and by reduced official sector sales 
compared with the late 1990s compounded  
by a contraction in producer hedging.

Going forward, our major challenges will  
be cost containment and the completion  
of the feasibility studies associated with our 
development projects. The Board and I have 
confidence in our Management team and  
their ability to deliver the tasks ahead.

James Cross 
Chairman

Annual Report & Accounts 2004Highland Gold Mining 05
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Having been appointed Managing Director  
of Highland Gold in early 2005 I am delighted  
to be leading our team of 3,700 people with 
operations spread across three vast regions  
of Russia. 

I have been associated with many members of 
our team since 1998. In just two years of being 
a quoted company, Highland Gold has earned  
a reputation for its ability to acquire, develop 
and operate quality gold mines in Russia. 

My challenges are to ensure our operating 
mines are being run effectively and to steer 
our development projects through to production 
and profitable growth for our shareholders, 
employees and other stakeholders. 

Our People
Our people are one of the most valuable assets 
of Highland Gold as its operations are 
expanding and are becoming more complex.  
In 2004 we continued building our team and 
focused on hiring responsible, well qualified 
professionals that share the Company’s 
pioneering spirit. 

As of December 31, 2004, we had 3,700 
employees, an increase of 900 over the end of 
2003 which was necessary due to the expansion 
of our operations. This number includes 117 at 
the Moscow management office and a total of 
43 in our representative offices in Khabarovsk 
and Chita. 

We welcomed several new key members.  
Mr Dmitry Yakushkin joined as our new Director 
of Communications. Dmitry brings with him  
a tremendous amount of experience that he 
earned during a 20-year career in journalism, 
specialising in international affairs. In 1998  
he became the Deputy Head of the Presidential 
Administration and press-secretary for the 
President of the Russian Federation. 

Mr Grant Sinitsin joined as our new Head of 
Investor Relations. Grant is very familiar with 
Highland Gold, having been involved with the 
Company as an adviser since our founding.  
He has been in Moscow for the past ten  
years as an investment banker and, prior to 
that, spent several years in the gold mining 
industry as the Chief Financial Officer for 
several Canadian junior exploration and 
development companies. 

Mr Vladimir Boukin joined as our new Mine 
Manager at Darasun. Vladimir earned his 
strong reputation as a mine operator over  
30 years in the mining industry, with his last 
few years at the world class, Dukat silver mine.  
He takes over from Mr Vyacheslav Zamaleev, 
who oversaw the redevelopment of the project 
and is now heading up our representative  
office in Khabarovsk.

Mr Alexander Zorin has been promoted to the 
position of Mine Manger at MNV. Alexander  
has 20 years experience in the mining industry, 
including four years at MNV where he has  
been the mine’s Chief Engineer. 

In line with our Staff Skills Improvement 
Program, we have agreements with several 
educational facilities in the regions where  
we operate which provides access for our 
employees to specialised technical and 
university education. A total of 129 employees 
were enrolled in these programmes. Highland 
Gold also conducts regular in-house training 
courses for its employees. 

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT
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MNV PRODUCTION COSTS PER OUNCE
 Unit 2004 2003

Cash operating cost US$ per ounce 187 159
Total cash cost US$ per ounce 215 187
Total production cost US$ per ounce 250 209
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Mnogovershinnoye (MNV)
MNV continued to perform well in 2004, not only 
meeting our production expectations of 195,000 
ounces at a Cash Operating Cost of US$187 per 
ounce, but also in establishing a new record  
of mill throughput at 927,000 tonnes. 

Production Costs
Our Cash Operating Costs of US$187 per ounce 
rose by 17.7 per cent in comparison with 2003. 
This was due to lower planned grades, a higher 
contribution from open pit ore and a general 
increase in prices for materials, especially 
chemicals. These increases flowed through into 
total cash costs, which were also affected by 
higher royalties as a result of increased gold 
prices. Finally, our total production cost of 
US$250 per ounce reflects the inclusion of a 
full year of depreciation on assets that were 
purchased from the Khabarovsk Administration 
near the end of 2003. (refer to page 7 for table 
on MNV Production Costs per ounce)

Cost Control
Recognising that cost pressures were building, 
based on lower mined grades and an increase 
cost of consumables and utilities, we have 
taken accelerated steps to improve our control 
of costs. Among these steps are programmes 
to automate the mill, test new technologies for 
the treatment of tailings, and create a digital 
resource model. We expect to see the initial 
benefits of these programmes in 2005.

Mine Development
Also, of longer-term significance to this 
operation, by year-end our underground 
development works reached the Northern ore 
body and we began preparing the first blocks  
of ore for mining in the current year. In 2005, 
this ore body will represent roughly 25 per cent 
of all ore mined at MNV, and as this is our 
largest ore body, it will be an important part  
of our operations through to the end of the 
current mine life.

MNV – OPERATIONS SUMMARY
  Unit 2004 2003

Mine development   
 Underground 000 m3 86.6 60.1
 Underground Meters 8,377 6,563
 Open pit – waste stripping  000 m3  1,509 1,487
 Open pit – waste stripping 000 tonnes 3,984 3,927
   
Ore mined   
 Underground Tonnes 389,506 474,767
 Open pit Tonnes 413,543 326,033
Total ore mined Tonnes 803,049 800,800
 Stockpiled ore Tonnes 124,320 90,402
 Ore processed Tonnes 927,369 891,202 
    
Gold grade   
 Underground g/tonne 8.51 8.82
 Open pit g/tonne 6.43 6.05
 Stockpile g/tonne 4.83 4.37
Average grade g/tonne 7.09 7.36
   
Recovery rate % 92.2 92.0
   
Gold production Ounces 195,026 194,000

MNV – MINING ACTIVITIES
Tonnes  2004 2003

Underground
 Southern  101,736 295,268
 Central  108,631 119,112
 Deer  27,649 –
 Flank  38,237 –
 Intermediate  61,082 23,763
 Ore from development  52,171 36,624
Total underground ore  389,506 474,767
Underground % of total mined ore  48.5 59.3
  
Open pit  
 Upper  413,543 277,633
 Flank  – 48,400
Total open pit ore  413,543 326,033
Open pit % of total mined ore  51.5 40.7

Total   803,049 800,800

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
continued
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Capital Costs
We invested US$6.1 million during 2004 at MNV. 
The major items included US$3.7 million for 
the purchase of additional haul trucks for the 
mining fleet, US$1.0 million incurred for raising 
the height of the tailing dam and US$1.4 million 
related to other construction at site.

Outlook
We expect that MNV will remain an important 
generator of cash flows which we will continue 
to reinvest for future growth. We experienced 
exceptionally bad weather conditions at MNV  
in the early part of the year which has resulted 
in difficult operating conditions in the first 
quarter, nevertheless we expect to produce  
a similar amount of gold in 2005 as we did  
in 2004. One of our ounces this year will be  
the one millionth ounce since we began the 
redevelopment of this operation in 1998. Even 
though we have more than ten years remaining 
in our existing reserve base, we understand  
the importance of replacing the reserves  
we have depleted and during 2005 we intend  
to organise and begin exploring for new 
resources within our MNV licence area. 

MNV – RESOURCES1 AT 31 DECEMBER, 2004 
  Ore Gold Gold % of 
 (tonnes) (g/tonne) (ounces) total gold

Underground
 Northern 3,806,500 9.4 1,151,362 43.2
 Central 431,400 14.9 206,144 7.8
 Deer 358,500 12.3 141,695 5.3
 Flank 322,400 20.6 213,828 8.0
 Intermediate 343,400 12.4 137,313 5.1
 Upper 305,600 6.7 65,926 2.5
 Quiet 215,000 6.1 42,344 1.6
 Deep 72,300 15.2 35,432 1.3
 Rocky 156,500 7.5 37,747 1.4
 Watershed 13,700 23.2 10,323 0.4

Total 6,025,300 10.5 2,042,114 76.6
    
Open pit    
 Upper 2,559,400 7.0 576,078 21.6
 Rocky 138,400 8.6 38,550 1.4
 Quiet 36,800 8.5 10,195 0.4

Total 2,734,600 7.1 624,823 23.4
    
 C1 (indicated) 6,578,900 9.0 1,914,461 71.8
 C2 (inferred) 2,181,000 10.7 752,476 28.2

Total  8,759,900 9.5 2,666,937 100.0

1Resources are undiluted by estimates of dilution and losses.

UPPER ORE BODY

2004

2003

1986-1997

Existing ore body Dike

Proposed development

Existing development Cross cuts

Pit contour



DARASUN

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
continued

DARASUN – OPERATIONS SUMMARY
 Unit 2004 2003

Mine development   
 Underground 000 m3  36,017 18,013
 Underground Meters 5,170 2,767
 Open pit – waste 000 m3 304,152 –
 Open pit – waste 000 tonnes 608,000 –
   
Ore processed Grade Recovery rate Gold produced
(tonnes) (g/tonne) (%) (ounces)

31,909 5.92 80.2 4,870

10
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This project has involved constructing a new 
450,000 tonnes per annum mill as well as the 
rehabilitation of several existing underground 
shafts sunk into the Darasun and Teremki 
deposits and pre-production stripping works  
at the nearby Talatui deposit, which after an 
initial four year period of open pit mining is 
planned to be converted into a longer-term 
underground mine. 

Production 
After completing our investment programme 
and commissioning the new mill in mid-2004, 
the year’s production of 4,870 ounces was well 
below our expectations. This was due to using 
low grade ore for the initial throughput and 
early problems encountered in the crushing 
circuit that were then compounded by an 
underpowered motor on our ball mill. Our  
team has worked hard in dealing with these 
challenges and the mill is now running 
consistently at approximately 50 per cent of 
capacity. We expect the mill to reach its full 
capacity in the second half of the current  
year. As 2005 progresses, we expect to be 
processing higher grade ore.

North East Shaft Project 
Over the past 15 to 20 years, there have  
been several studies conducted on the re-
development of the Darasun mine and mill. 
One of these studies from 1989 described  
a project to sink a new North East shaft with  
a diameter of 6 meters to a depth of 900m  
in order to access and develop the lower parts 

of the mine between the South West shaft and 
the new North East shaft. This project was 
approved and construction began in 1991, 
though a lack of available financing in the early 
1990s stopped the project at a depth of just 292 
meters. During 2004, we revisited this project 
with an internal study that examined three 
development options that would provide access 
to significant deep level resources; easier and 
more effective access for further exploration  
of the lower levels; not interfere with current 
mining operations and improve productivity  
and operating costs of underground mining. 

An optimal plan has been selected and a 
decision has been taken to proceed with 
development. We are now carrying out the 
detailed engineering for the shaft and once  
this is complete, a contractor will be selected 
and the sinking works will begin. We currently 
expect the shaft to be sunk over a period of  
24 months, though a precise estimate of the 
final completion date will only be possible  
once a steady state sinking rate is achieved. 

On completion of this project, the North East 
shaft will be the main hoisting shaft at Darasun 
with a capacity of 320,000 tonnes per year,  
to include at least 210,000 tonnes of ore. This 
shaft will be used in tandem with our modern 
South West shaft to increase underground 
production at Darasun to at least 300,000 
tonnes of ore per year. It will allow us to take 
the older, less efficient shafts out of service. 
The most attractive feature of this project is 
that it provides access to higher grade reserves 
and resources in the deeper levels of the mine. 

Talatui  
During 2004, we re-evaluated our existing 
mining plans at our newly licensed Talatui 
deposit and were able to come up with a new 
development concept that has more than 
doubled our mine life for this project, located 
just 12 kilometres from our new mill. Talatui 
will now be a more important component of the 
Darasun mine, supplying some 200,000 tonnes 
of ore per year. Once our mining plan was 
agreed, stripping operations commenced and 
recently we began trucking ore to the mill. 

Capital Costs 
We invested US$25.9 million at Darasun  
in 2004. The major items included US$13.0 
million of running costs (salaries, electricity, 
fuel and overheads), US$6.9 million for the 
purchase of equipment and machinery,  
US$5.0 million for contracted construction 
works, and US$1.0 million for engineering  
and design works.

Outlook
The outlook at Darasun is still constrained by 
the mechanical problems encountered in start-
up that will not be fully rectified until early in 
the second half of 2005. Nevertheless, with the 
planned improvements to the mill we expect  
to be able to reach our 2005 target of 70,000 
ounces. With the longer-term production 
targets in sight from 2006 and a newly installed 
operating team in place we remain confident 
about the prospects for Darasun. 

Darasun 
Since 2002, we have invested considerable effort  
in the re-development of the Darasun mine.
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TALATUI MINE DEVELOPMENT

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT OF DARASUN LOWER LEVELS
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NOVOSHIROKINSKOYE

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
continued
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At year end, our expectation was that the final 
feasibility study would be delivered by the end 
of the first quarter of 2005, however some 
slower than expected progress on the design  
of the Kivcet Flash Smelter has caused the 
delivery date to slip towards the end of the 
second quarter of 2005. Additionally, in 2004, 
we received the licence for the deposit and 
were able to increase our ownership to  
96.5 per cent from 87.3 per cent.

Resources and Reserves 
During 2004, we carried out a re-estimation  
of the resources and reserves of the 
Novoshirokinskoye project. This work has 
confirmed our initial expectations for improved 
grades and higher contents of contained metals. 
Rather than converting each metal into a gold 
equivalent, as we have in the past, we have taken 
a decision that for reporting of reserves and 
resources and for future production accounting, 
only silver will be treated as a gold equivalent. 
Lead and zinc will be treated as by-products. 

The resources have increased by 60 per cent  
to 2.1 million ounces of gold equivalents and  
the reserves have increased by 52 per cent to  
1.2 million ounces of gold equivalents. These 
results have now been submitted to the State 
Geological Committee for approval. 

Novoshirokinskoye
During 2004 we devoted time and effort to 
progressing Novoshirokinskoye towards 
production. This work included a re-contouring  
of the resources and reserves, advancement  
of the feasibility study, and the initiation of  
some pre-construction development. 

13

NOVOSHIROKINSKOYE RESOURCE: 3.0 G/T GOLD EQUIVALENT CUTOFF
   By-products Gold equivalents
  Ore Lead Zinc Gold Silver
Category  (000 tonnes) (%) (%) (g/tonne) (g/tonne)

C1 (indicated)  1,895 5.91 1.76 6.32  109.1 
C2 (inferred)  7,227 3.64 1.84 5.35  100.0 
Total  9,122 4.11 1.82 5.55  101.9 
Total contained metal (tonnes)   375,041 166,089 50.6 930
Total contained metal (000s ounces)     1,628 29,885
Gold equivalent (000s ounces)      2,126

NOVOSHIROKINSKOYE DILUTED, MINEABLE ORE RESERVES: 3.0 G/T GOLD EQUIVALENT CUTOFF
   By-products Gold equivalents
  Ore Lead Zinc Gold Silver
Category  (000 tonnes) (%) (%) (g/tonne) (g/tonne)

C1 + 50% C2 (probable)  6,180 3.72 1.63 4.56  92.3 
Total contained metal (tonnes)   229,897 100,734 28.2 570
Total contained metal (000s ounces)     906 18,338
Gold equivalent (000s ounces)      1,212

1.  Resources and Reserves were calculated using the assumptions of US$375/ounce for gold; US$6.25/ounce for silver; US$850/tonne for lead  
and US$450/tonne for payable zinc. The recovery rates assumed were 86 per cent for gold and silver; 87 per cent for lead and 75 per cent for zinc.

2. Reserves were calculated using assumptions of 12.1 per cent for dilution and 8.0 per cent for losses. 
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Mining and Processing Facilities
We have completed our underground 
preparation and will be ready to begin mining 
works ahead of the completion of the mill and 
smelter. As the volume of work required to 
bring the mill into operation is quite low, the 
feasibility and development of the flash smelter 
is, therefore, our main priority. When the flash 
smelting feasibility work is complete, we 
consider that this technology will deliver many 
attractive benefits to the project such as higher 
recovery rates; lower transport costs; lower 
working capital requirements and a better 
environmental performance when compared 
with a traditional smelting process. 

Capital Costs
We invested US$13.6 million at 
Novoshirokinskoye in 2004. The major items 
included US$1.4 million on engineering  
and design, US$4.3 million on construction 
activities, US$4.2 million in running costs,  
and US$3.7 million for the purchase  
of equipment and machinery.

Outlook
Since mid-2002 we anticipated that 
Novoshirokinskoye would become our third 
operating mine and, while there remains 
extensive work to complete, we are looking 
forward to finalising the feasibility study and 
progressing the project further. Once this has 
been received and reviewed, we will be in a 
position to begin construction works for the 
Flash Smelter, complete the upgrades to  
the mill, and initiate our mining activities.

NOVOSHIROKINSKOYE LONGITUDINAL SECTION NOVOSHIROKINSKOYE SITE PLAN
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Mayskoye
Mayskoye is our first project in Chukotka and,  
as we have done in the other regions where  
we operate, we intend to leverage this initial 
project leading to a wider presence in the  
local gold industry. 

In fact, in the short time we have been present 
on the ground in Chukotka we have established 
representative and administrative offices in 
Pevek and attracted experienced staff who have 
been prominent in Chukotka’s gold industry  
for many years. 

Feasibility Study
Mayskoye is our largest asset, containing a 
large portion of our total resources. Early in 
2004, after studying the deposit characteristics 
and factoring in a favourable economic 
environment, we took a decision to revise the 
scope of production from 180,000 to 260,000 
ounces of gold per year. 

During the year we sent floatation concentrates 
produced from a bulk sample of Mayskoye ore 
to metallurgical laboratories located both in 
Russia and abroad. Test work has been 
completed on these concentrates and the 
reported results have indicated bio-oxidation 
recovery rates ranging from 92.9-95.7 per cent. 
These results have confirmed our initial 
expectations and clearly demonstrate  
the amenability of Mayskoye concentrates  
to bio-oxidation.

We are awaiting final delivery of our new 
resource estimate and feasibility study from the 
mining consultants that have been engaged to 
complete this work. On receipt we will provide 
a detailed review of the project plan to move 
quickly to tailor our construction programme 
for the year and to continue discussions with 
our project finance bankers. 

Capital Costs
On the basis of our confidence in the feasibility 
of the Mayskoye project and the reality of a 
short construction period in this part of the 
world, during 2004 we committed ourselves  
to early investments that will serve us during 
the mine construction phase. We invested 
US$22.6 million at Mayskoye in 2004. The 
major items included the purchase and 
transport to site of a pre-fabricated 500 man 
camp, equipment and construction materials 
totalling US$16.4 million. In addition, there  
was US$2.2 million for engineering and  
design works and US$4.0 million for on-site 
construction works and overheads. 

Outlook 
As we wait for the delivery of our resource  
and feasibility work, I remain confident that 
Mayskoye will be one of the Company’s largest 
and most profitable operations when it enters 
full production. The mine will also have a long 
life, which we believe can be extended through 
the development of the resource base. 
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Taseevskoye
Following our acquisition of the Mayskoye deposit 
in 2003, we successfully acquired the large 
Taseevskoye deposit towards the end of 2004.

With Darasun moving into production, this 
project replenishes our development pipeline 
and also demonstrates that quality assets are 
still available in Russia. Equally important, 
Taseevskoye continues our consolidation of the 
most significant gold assets in the Chita region 
and it provides the first major project that will 
be jointly developed under our strategic 
relationship with Barrick Gold. 

Resource Update and Review  
of 1997 Feasibility Study
Having finalised this acquisition, we are now 
re-evaluating prior resource estimation work 
that was completed in 1997 to ensure it meets 
today’s JORC standards. This work has been 
undertaken by Snowden of Vancouver, Canada 
and is nearing completion. In parallel we are 
now working together with Barrick Gold, our  
50 per cent joint venture partner, on a review  
of the 1997 feasibility study results. This 
comprehensive study was conducted by 
Kvaerner Metals and resulted in an average 
annual production of 220,000 ounces over the 
initial ten year mine life. This level of primary 
production and a subsequent six year period  
of low grade processing was based on a 2.9 
million ounce mineable reserve of 28.2 million 
tonnes grading 3.23 grams per tonne.

Project Enhancement
Early in 2005, we won the open auction for  
the rights to explore and develop the Sredne 
Golgotayskoye deposit, a promising exploration 
deposit located 13 kilometres to the south of 
Taseevskoye. We are hopeful that this deposit 
will, subject to additional exploration, be a 
source of high grade ore that can enhance  
the financial attractiveness of the overall 
Taseevskoye project. 

Outlook
Given that we will benefit from a 
comprehensive feasibility study that was 
conducted in 1997, we are sure that once the 
overall project scope has been agreed we will 
be ready to proceed directly to re-estimating 
the project’s financial parameters. In short  
we believe this project has potential to be fast 
tracked through the feasibility stage. This 
would put us in a good position to make further 
financing and construction decisions with 
Barrick Gold, our joint venture partner.
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The priority projects that our geologists have 
identified for acquisition have all benefited from 
early stage prospecting works, and in some 
cases a considerable amount of drilling and 
underground development. While the execution 
of this strategy will unfold over the next few 
years, we have recently acquired a license  
for the Sredne Golgotayskoye project next to 
our Taseevskoye deposit and we have entered 
into a Joint Venture in Khabarovsk with a local 
mining company. 

Safety, Health and Environment
Operational safety is a key priority for Highland 
Gold, and to emphasise this we have raised  
the profile and responsibilities of our Safety 
Managers. Our goal is to be more proactive in 
the prevention of accidents. While we appreciate 
that there are risks of injury associated with 
mining, sadly and unfortunately we report three 
fatalities at our operations during the year. 

We are developing a more comprehensive 
safety awareness training programme aimed  
at world class best practice. During 2004, more 
than 1,000 of our employees went through job 
safety courses. We are also focusing on 
improving employee healthcare by providing 
appropriate medical equipment, vaccinations 
and meeting other basic first-aid needs at  
each of our operations.

For Highland Gold a sound environmental 
policy is not just a formal obligation but  
a moral responsibility. In 2004 at MNV  
we increased the level of the tailing dam, 
constructed a storage facility for collecting 
drain water from under the tailing dam for 
supplying the mill with recycled water, bulk 
storage tanks for fuels and lubricants, 
rehabilitated a base depot for sodium cyanide 
storage and organised a sanitary protection 
zone at the water intake of the Ulchonok river. 
At Darasun we constructed a sludge dam for 
storing cyanide cakes, extended the tailing dam 
area, and also built three modular liquid fuel 
boiler units and a mine water collection pit.

In 2004 we started preparation for the 
introduction of a new environmental risk 
management system at all Highland Gold’s 
assets. It is designed to reduce and control 
ecological risks at our mines and includes an 
alert reaction plan in case of accidents, as well 
as a programme of effective permanent 
environmental monitoring.

Corporate and Social Responsibility
In the regions where we operate Highland Gold 
is one of the major tax payers, and in 2004 
cumulative tax paid to local budgets was over 
US$11.3 million. In 2004 the Group actively 
participated in various social programmes  
in Moscow and in the regions of Khabarovsk, 
Chita and Chukotka, including making donations 
to the Russian Orthodox Church, an orphanage 
and a specialised school for blind children in 
the Moscow Region. We are also a sponsor of 
the Chita University Volleyball team, as well  
as the regions hockey and football federations. 

We encourage our employees to be active in 
sports. This includes providing access to fitness 
equipment and support for various teams at 
MNV and Darasun. At MNV, we have installed 
and operate a ski facility and we sponsor a 
successful ski team for the children at MNV.

We also felt it our duty to contribute to the 
rehabilitation campaign which unfolded after 
the terrorist attack on a school in Beslan  
in September 2004. 

Conclusion
The priority over the past year has been to 
secure the long-term future of the business.  
In spite of a number of operational challenges, 
we have successfully broadened the 
geographical and operational base of the 
business, whilst maintaining output at our 
existing producing assets. We have also laid  
the financial foundations for future growth.

Dmitry Korobov 
Managing Director
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Exploration
In 2004, our board and management committed 
to broadening our strategy to include acquisitions 
of earlier stage exploration projects as part 
of our strategic alliance with Barrick Gold. 

DEVELOPMENT SCHEME AT SREDNE GOLGOTAYSKOYE
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In 2004 the Group had increased production. 
Helped by the gold price, revenues reached 
US$82.1 million. Operating profit was US$18.8 
million with net cash flow of US$10.5 million. 

Turnover in 2004 increased by 15 per cent from 
US$71.6 million to US$82.1 million driven by  
a 1 per cent increase in MNV production, 
US$0.9 million of turnover coming from new 
production at Darasun and a 12 per cent 
increase in the average gold price realised. At 
the same time cost of sales and administrative 
expenses increased by 46 per cent and 38 per 
cent respectively leading to a decrease in 
operating profit of 33 per cent from US$27.9 
million in 2003 to US$18.8 million in 2004. 

Cost of sales increased in 2004 by US$16.4 
million compared with 2003. This increase 
includes US$3.2 million of expenses relating  
to the Darasun operations where in 2003 all 
costs were capitalised. This led to a net loss of 
US$2.3 million for Darasun, which represents 
mainly a write-off of the carrying value of the 
ore balance at year end to net realisable value. 
The underground operations in 2004 included 
significant development works leading to 
expensive ore accumulated in the Balance 
Sheet. Given that during the first year lower 
grade ore has been mined the net realisable 
value of such ore is less than its historic cost. 

The average rouble/dollar exchange rate moved 
from 30.68 in 2003 to 28.81 in 2004 which 
resulted in an additional US$2.9 million charge 
to cost of sales in 2004. MNV cost of sales 
increased by US$8.8 million driven by an 
increase in cost of materials of US$3 million, 
increased salaries of US$1.6 million, change in 
work in progress of US$1 million and increased 
depreciation of US$2 million resulting from the 
full year charge on assets purchased at the end 
of 2003. Of the US$3 million increase in cost of 
materials, US$1 million relates to an increase 
in the prices of hypochlorite, which is used for 
neutralization of the tailings. Increase in the 
cost of metals and other chemicals also 
significantly affected the cost of sales at MNV. 

During 2004 certain VAT balances relating to 
years prior to 2002 have been identified and 
considered not recoverable. These balances 
have been written-off leading to a charge  
of US$0.9 million to cost of sales.

Administrative expenses increased by US$3.2 
million from US$8.3 million to US$11.5 million. 
Of these costs, the major component was an 
increase of US$1.8 million associated with the 
growth of our Moscow office, in line with the 
anticipation of the expansion of our business 
activities. Expenses relating to the Jersey office 
operation were in line with 2003. 

2004 EBITDA amounted to US$25.6 million 
compared with US$32.2 million in 2003 a 
decrease of 21 per cent. Notwithstanding the 
reduced EBITDA cash from operating activities 
increased to US$10.5 million compared to 
US$7.6 million in 2003. This was achieved 
through a lower cash outflow relating to working 
capital movements of US$15.2 million in 2004 
compared with US$25.1 million in 2003.

In 2004 the Group incurred US$5.8 million of 
interest compared with US$3.8 million in 2003 
reflecting the higher average debt levels during 
2004 used to finance the Group’s development 
projects. Cash interest paid increased to 
US$4.8 million from US$2 million.

As a result of changes outlined above the profit 
before tax decreased by 42 per cent from 
US$24.6 million to US$14.2 million. Although 
the Group statutory tax amounted to only 
US$2.2 million, deferred tax movements and 
one off write-offs increased the total tax charged 
to the profit and loss account to US$9.2 million 
resulting in an effective tax rate of 64.8 per cent 
compared to 26.7 per cent in 2003. 

Of the increase the most significant single  
item involved the write-off of US$2.9 million  
of deferred tax asset relating to tax losses 
accumulated at Darasun during 2004. Under 
Russian tax rules the Company will be able  
to offset accumulated tax losses against future 
taxable profits over a ten year period, but the 
recovery in each year will be restricted to 30 
per cent of taxable profits. Given the early stage 
of Darasun’s development and in line with 
general accounting practice, management  
does not consider it is prudent to carry the full 
amount of deferred tax asset. Consequently  
the portion of the asset which is not expected  
to be recovered within three years has been 
written-off. Similar write-offs totalling  
US$1.4 million related to deferred tax assets 
accumulated at Mayskoye and Novo have also 
been made in 2004. Together these write-offs 
raised the effective rate by 30.2 per cent.

FINANCE DIRECTOR’S REVIEW
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The strengthening of the Russian rouble gave 
rise to currency gains on the translation of 
dollar denominated borrowings and added 
another 8.8 per cent to the effective tax rate. 
Other permanent differences, including non 
deductible expenses, accounted for a further 
6.1 per cent increase. These increases were 
offset by lower tax rates in Cyprus and Jersey 
reducing the effective tax rate by 7 per cent. 

Management will continue to monitor the 
deferred tax assets arising in different 
development projects and assess the timing 
and certainty of their recoverability in line with 
general accounting practice. The application  
of this policy may lead to deferred tax assets 
previously written-off being recognised again  
in future, or further write-offs of deferred tax 
assets, notably in the case of projects at early 
stages of development.

At the half year the Company paid US$0.01 per 
share in dividends (US$0.015 in 2003) and now 
proposes to pay another US$0.01 per share 
(US$0.015 in 2003). Total dividends for 2004  
will amount to US$2.7 million compared with 
US$3.5 million in 2003. 

During 2004 the Group spent a total of US$107.8 
million on capital investments including US$26.8 
million relating to the acquisition of the 
Taseevskoye license and US$69.2 million for 
construction and acquisition of tangible assets 
for the Groups projects (US$56.8 million in 
2003). In addition the Group made its second 
payment for the acquisition of the Mayskoye 
license amounting to US$11.5 million. The 
Group expects to receive 50 per cent of the 
acquisition price for the Taseevskoye deposit 
from Barrick Gold once the ownership transfer 
is finalised.

Almost all of the capital expenditure was 
financed from two equity issues. In January 
2004 the Group issued 9.3 million shares  
to Barrick Gold Corporation raising US$38 
million net of expenses and later in December 
2004 the Group raised another US$94 million 
from a placement of 27.4 million shares  
at GBP 1.90 per share. 

The net debt of the Group decreased from 
US$66.4 million at the end of 2003 to US$37.7 
million at the end of 2004. As at this date the 
net debt comprised US$40.8 million of cash  
in bank, US$70.9 million of loans and US$7.6 
million of long-term liabilities including finance 
lease obligations. The decrease in net debt was 
caused by an increase in cash balances of 
US$35.4 million, an increase in loans of US$5.0 
million and an increase in long-term liabilities 
of US$1.7 million.

In 2004 the Group concentrated on changing  
its debt profile and improving the quality of its 
Balance Sheet. At the end of 2004 the Group 
signed a syndicated loan with Commerzbank 
for US$80 million with repayments structured 
over 3.5 years. The first US$25 million was 
drawn in December 2004 with a second tranche 
of US$39 million received in February 2005. 
The proceeds were used to refinance existing 
debt. The remaining US$16 million is available 
to the Group upon achieving certain levels of 
production at Darasun mine. Subsequent to  
the year end, in April 2005 the Group issued  
a Russian Rouble bond for 750 million Roubles 
(US$26.8 million) at 12 per cent interest 
payable quarterly with a maturity of three  
years and a repayment option in 1.5 years. 

The biggest increase in working capital during 
2004 came from an increase in inventory  
of US$8.6 million, an increase in debtors of 
US$2.4 million and an increase in VAT of US$5 
million. Debtors represent mostly prepayments 
for materials and supplies used in development 
of the Group’s projects. Most of the increase  
in VAT relates to VAT on construction that  
will be claimed back once the construction  
is complete.

During 2004 the Group continued its no hedge 
policy in relation to the gold price. Given the 
recent volatility in the Rouble/dollar exchange 
rate the Group is considering the possibility  
of currency hedges. 

Denis Alexandrov 
Finance Director
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

James Cross (Aged 56)
Chairman
James Cross has been a Non-Executive 
Director of Highland Gold since the Company 
was incorporated in 2002 and Non-Executive 
Chairman since December, 2004. He graduated 
from the faculty of commerce at the University 
of Witwatersrand. He has been involved in 
banking since 1968. Appointed head of trading 
for UBS in London in 1985, he returned to 
South Africa in 1987 as General Manager of  
the South African Reserve Bank. He became 
deputy governor in 1997 and senior deputy 
governor in 1999. Since retiring from the bank 
he has pursued various consultancy roles.  
He is a Fellow of the Institute of Bankers  
in South Africa. 

Ivan Koulakov (Aged 36) 
Deputy Chairman
Ivan Koulakov graduated as a Mechanical 
Engineer from the Moscow State Technical 
University (Bauman) and as an economist  
from the Department of Finance and Banking 
at the Financial Academy of Government of 
the Russian Federation. He became Chairman 
of ZAO Oil Finance, a company of the Sibneft 
group, in 1995, then Chairman of ZAO MNV  
in 1998. Since then he has led the Management 
team in the development of MNV and the 
expansion into further development projects. 
He was appointed Deputy Chairman in February, 
2005, responsible for corporate development.

Dmitry Korobov (Aged 33)
Managing Director
Dmitry Korobov graduated as a Mechanical 
Engineer from the Moscow State Technical 
University (Bauman). He became deputy 
general director of ZAO Oil Finance in 1997  
and then a director of ZAO MNV in 1998.  
Since that time he has been instrumental  
in the development of ZAO MNV and, prior  
to his appointment as Managing Director of 
Highland Gold in February, 2005 was General 
Director of RDM, the company which manages 
the Group’s Russian operations in Moscow.

Denis Alexandrov (Aged 30)
Finance Director
Denis Alexandrov graduated from both the 
University of Maryland and Russia’s Far Eastern 
State University where he studied Global 
Economic Relations and Management. He 
qualified as an accountant and is a member 
of the Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants (ACCA). He spent five years with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers’ Natural Resources 
Group before joining Crown Resources AG 
(London), a subsidiary of Alfa Group. He was 
appointed Finance Director in October, 2003. 

Gennady Nevidomi (Aged 33)
Production Director
Gennady Nevidomi graduated as a Mechanical 
Engineer from the Moscow State Technical 
University (Bauman). He was head of the 
analytical department of ZAO Oil Finance from 
1997 until 2000 when he was appointed head  
of the Moscow office of ZAO MNV. In 2003,  
he was appointed a Director of RDM and  
is responsible for planning and production  
at the Company’s mining operations.

Duncan Baxter (Aged 53)
Corporate Affairs Director
Duncan Baxter began his career in banking 
with Barclays in Zimbabwe before joining 
RAL in 1978. In 1985 he became a director 
of Commercial Bank (Jersey) Ltd, which 
was subsequently acquired by Swiss Bank 
Corporation. Since leaving SBC in 1998 
he has carried out consultancy projects 
for international banks and investment 
management companies. He is a Fellow  
of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries,  
the Securities Institute and the Institute  
of Bankers.
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Christopher Palmer-Tomkinson (Aged 63)
Senior Independent Director
Christopher Palmer-Tomkinson graduated 
from Oxford University with a degree in 
jurisprudence and joined Cazenove in 1963.  
He served as a partner from 1972 until 2001 
and as a managing director of corporate 
finance until May, 2002. He was responsible  
at various times for Cazenove’s African  
& Australasian businesses, which enabled  
him to focus on the resources sector.

Alex Davidson (Aged 53)
Non-Executive Director
Alex Davidson has a Masters Degree in 
Economic Geology from McGill University. 
He has been a senior officer of Barrick Gold 
Corporation of Canada since October, 1993 
and currently holds the title of Executive Vice 
President responsible for exploration and 
corporate development. Prior to that he was 
Vice President of Metall Mining Corporation.  
He is currently a Non-Executive of QGX Ltd  
of Canada.

David Fish (Aged 58)
Non-Executive Director
David Fish graduated from the faculty of 
Science at the University of Witswatersrand. 
His professional career as a chartered 
accountant was with Peat Marwick Mitchell & Co., 
now KPMG, and he left in 1988 as a partner and 
Chairman of the Banking and Finance Practice 
to join Anglo American Corporation. He retired 
from Anglo in 2002 as Executive Vice-President 
having served in the finance division and new 
business which involved developing mining 
projects in Africa from early exploration 
through to final commissioning. He served  
on the boards of Anglo American Corporation, 
First National Bank and Rand Merchant Bank. 
He is currently a Non-Executive director  
of Kelgran Investments, Shaft Sinkers,  
Bindura Nickel Corporation and Ashanti 
Goldfields Zimbabwe.

Tim Wadeson (Aged 68)
Non-Executive Director
Tim Wadeson graduated as a Mining Engineer 
from the Camborne School of Mines. He has 
held a variety of senior mining positions.  
He was Technical Director of Anglo Zimbabwe 
1980-1985; Deputy Technical Director (Mining) 
Anglo American Corp. 1985-1989; Technical 
Director Minorco 1989-1994; Group Technical 
Director and Executive Director Anglo American 
Corp. & AA plc 1995-1999; CEO Konkola Copper 
Mines, Zambia 2000-2001. He is currently  
a Non-Executive Director of Ridge Mining plc, 
Cluff Gold plc, Bindura Nickel Corp. and  
Trojan Nickel Mine.
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The Directors of Highland Gold Mining Limited have pleasure in submitting their Report together with the audited Annual Accounts for the year  
ended 31 December, 2004. 

Overview
Highland Gold Mining Limited (“Highland Gold” or the “Company”) was incorporated in Jersey on 23 May, 2002 (registered number 83208) with  
the principal activity of building a portfolio of gold mining operations within the Russian Federation. These activities, group structure and operating 
companies are described more fully in the section on page 55 of this report. The Chairman’s Statement and the Managing Director’s Report  
explain in detail the business developments during 2004 and the future prospects of the Group. 

Results and Dividends
The overview of the results for the period to 31 December, 2004 are given in the Financial Review on page 18 of this report. The Directors are mindful of 
the growth aspects of the Group and have reviewed the dividend policy and recommend a final dividend of US$0.01 per share in respect of the twelve 
month period to 31 December, 2004 (US$0.015 – 2003). In October, 2004 the Directors approved the payment of an interim dividend of US$0.01 per 
share which together with the proposed final dividend will amount to a total dividend of US$0.02 per share (US$0.03 – 2003). Subject to the approval 
of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, the final dividend will be paid on 3 June, 2005, to shareholders on the Company’s register at the 
close of business on 29 April, 2005. The Directors continue to keep the dividend policy of the Company under review. 

Accounting Policies 
Highland Gold’s consolidated Annual Accounts are presented in accordance with UK GAAP with the US dollar as its principal functional and reporting 
currency. The Directors propose to change to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in 2007.

Directors’ Shareholdings
The interests of the Directors, and of persons connected with them, in the ordinary shares of the Company as at 31 December, 2004 and at the date  
of this report, are as follows:

Director    Ordinary shares %

James Cross    10,000  0.01

Ivan Koulakov     22,372,500  15.79

Christopher Palmer-Tomkinson    634,649 0.43 

Dmitry Korobov     3,000 –

Denis Alexandrov    2,500 –

Gennady Nevidomi    2,500 –

Duncan Baxter     20,000  0.01

The Directors entered into arrangements in respect of their shareholdings whereby they had each agreed in respect of themselves and their related 
parties not to dispose of any interest in Ordinary Shares. Those arrangements have now expired. Buying and selling by any of the Directors requires 
market disclosure under the AIM rules. The Company has adopted a share dealing code for Directors and relevant employees, which follows  
a rigorous permissions procedure.

Report on Directors’ Remuneration
Remuneration of Executive Directors currently comprises basic salary and bonus. In addition there is a Long Term Incentive Plan which includes  
stock appreciation rights and other benefits for Executive Directors and other key personnel in Russia.

The Directors have determined to continue with a second award under the stock appreciation right (SARs) scheme. Under the terms of the scheme, 
Directors are granted SARs, with the number of SARs granted being based on a multiple (range of 0.5 to 2.5) of salary, divided by the twenty-day 
average of the share price to 1 December of the year the SAR is granted (the grant price of the SAR). After three years following the granting of the 
SAR, the Directors then have thirteen months in which to exercise their SARs, and either receive a cash payment, or reinvest the proceeds in further 
SARs (the date of reinvestment is limited to 1 December in any year within the thirteen month exercise limit). The cash entitlement is calculated 
with reference to the difference between the grant price of the SAR and the share price on the day the SAR is exercised. The scheme is at the sole 
discretion of the Remuneration Committee which has authority in respect of any leavers. The 2004 scheme was implemented on 1 December, 2004  
at a price of 257.75 pence per share (255.50 pence – 2003). The total SARs issued at 1 December, 2004 amounted to 777,151 (337,422 – 2003).

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

22



The remuneration paid to the Directors in the financial period to 31 December, 2004 was as follows:

The highest paid Director was Ivan Koulakov US$360,000. The total remuneration of the five Executive Directors was US$1,302,475 and the total 
remuneration of the four Non Executive Directors who acted during the year was US$228,507, including as Chairman, Mr Cross who received 
remuneration of $135,000 and SARs of 152,234. Mr Cross’s remuneration reflected his position as a Non-Executive Director for eleven months of the 
year and Chairman for the remaining period to 31 December, 2004. Lord Daresbury, who resigned in December, received total remuneration during 
the year of $700,000. This included a payment of $200,000 relating to the cessation of his employment as Executive Chairman, an exgratia payment 
of $300,000 for the part he played in bringing Highland Gold to the market and the first two years as a publicly listed company. He also has been 
awarded 152,650 SARs during his time with the Company, which may continue to be exercised under the scheme rules.

The Group has entered into certain agreements with:

•  James Cross as Non-Executive Director and Non-Executive Chairman commencing on 1 January, 2005. Mr Cross’s fees are reviewed annually  
by the Company’s Remuneration Committee. Mr Cross may terminate the agreement by giving twelve months’ notice in writing. The Company 
may terminate the agreement either by giving twelve months’ notice in writing or a payment of twelve months’ fees in lieu of notice equivalent  
to such period of notice together with any bonus payable. He was appointed Non-Executive Chairman on 8 December, 2004.

•   Mr Ivan Koulakov, Deputy Chairman, commencing on 18 June, 2002. Mr Koulakov’s salary is reviewed annually by the Company’s Remuneration 
Committee. Mr Koulakov may terminate the agreement by giving twelve months’ notice in writing. The Company may terminate the agreement 
either by giving twelve months’ notice in writing, or a payment of twelve months’ salary in lieu of notice equivalent to such period of notice 
together with any bonus payable. On termination Mr Koulakov has covenanted with the Company that he will not directly or indirectly seek to 
procure orders from or do business with any individual, firm or company who has done business with the Company during the period of one year 
preceding termination or endeavour to entice away any of the Company’s employees employed by the Company during the period of one year 
immediately preceding such termination. Mr Koulakov has a labour contract with the Company’s subsidiary, RDM, for a term of 2 years in respect 
of his services. He was appointed Deputy Chairman from 1 February, 2005.

•    Mr Dmitry Korobov, Managing Director, commencing 22 May, 2003. Mr Korobov’s salary is reviewed annually by the Company’s Remuneration 
Committee. Mr Korobov may terminate the agreement by giving twelve months’ notice in writing. The Company may terminate the agreement 
either by giving twelve months’ notice in writing or a payment of twelve months’ salary in lieu of notice equivalent to such period of notice together 
with any bonus payable. Mr Korobov has a labour contract with the Company’s subsidiary, RDM, in respect of his services as Managing Director 
and head of the management team of the Group’s business in Russia. He was appointed Managing Director from 1 February, 2005.

•  Mr Duncan Baxter, Corporate Affairs Director, commencing on 8 December, 2002. Mr Baxter’s salary is reviewed annually by the Company’s 
Remuneration Committee. Mr Baxter may terminate the agreement by giving six months’ notice in writing. The Company may terminate the 
agreement either by giving six month’s notice in writing, or a payment of six month’s salary in lieu of notice equivalent to such period of notice 
together with any bonus payable.

•  Mr Gennady Nevidomi, Production Director, commencing 22 May, 2003. Mr Nevidomi’s salary is reviewed annually by the Company’s 
Remuneration Committee. Mr Nevidomi may terminate the agreement by giving twelve months’ notice in writing. The Company may terminate 
the agreement either by giving twelve months’ notice in writing or a payment of twelve months’ salary in lieu of notice equivalent to such period 
of notice together with any bonus payable. Mr Nevidomi has a labour contract with the Company’s subsidiary, RDM, in respect of his services as 
First Deputy General Director (Operations) of RDM.

•  Mr Denis Alexandrov, Finance Director, commencing 13 October, 2003. Mr Alexandrov’s salary is reviewed annually by the Company’s 
Remuneration Committee. Mr Alexandrov may terminate the agreement by giving twelve months’ notice in writing. The Company may terminate 
the agreement either by giving twelve months’ notice in writing or a payment of twelve months’ salary in lieu of notice equivalent to such period  
of notice together with any bonus payable. Mr Alexandrov has a labour contract with the Company’s subsidiary, RDM, in respect of his services  
as Deputy General Director (Finance) of RDM.

•  Non Executive Directors’ – their contracts have an initial fixed term of one year other than Mr Wadeson who has a contract for an initial period  
of two years. Thereafter termination is governed by the Company’s retirement policy, mutual consent or individuals own volition. Their terms  
are reviewed from time to time.
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Corporate Governance
The Directors support the principles of good governance. Whilst not mandatory for an AIM company, the Directors have implemented, where 
practicable for a company of this size and nature, the main provisions of the principles of good governance and code of best practice under the  
New Combined Code. During the period there were changes made to the board to ensure a greater balance between Non-Executive and Executive 
Directors and the reorganisation of various committees as disclosed below. In the opinion of the Board the Non-Executive Directors are independent  
from the Group, other than Alex Davidson as a representative of Barrick Gold. The Chairman is now Non-Executive. Also during the year  
Mr Palmer-Tomkinson was appointed the Senior Independent director. 

The Board has also considered the guidance published by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales concerning the internal  
control requirements of the Combined Code, in line with the Turnbull Report. The Board regularly reviews key business risks, via a number  
of properly constituted committees, in addition to the financial risks facing the Group in the operations of its business.

The Board
The Board currently has ten directors of which five are Non-Executive. The Company had and will seek to retain three or more Non-Executive 
Directors to bring an independent outlook to the Board and to provide a balance to the Executive Directors. The Chairman is a Non-Executive 
Chairman, though he spends approximately three days a week on Company matters which the Board regards as appropriate whilst the Company  
is developing and can draw on his expertise and experience. The Board has determined and formalised matters reserved for its consideration 
and where appropriate have delegated certain matters under a chart of authority to Board appointed committees. The Board meets on a regular 
basis, in excess of five times a year, to review the performance and the business of the Group, ensure that funding needs are appropriate, consider 
development and acquisition opportunities and all Directors have an excellent attendance record for Board and Committee meetings. Where 
appropriate the Directors have full access to the Company Secretary and independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. New appointees  
to the Board are provided with suitable background information, have discussions with the executive and visit various mine and management entities.

Lord Daresbury and Mike Pleming resigned during the year as Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Director respectively and Tim Wadeson,  
David Fish and Alex Davidson have been appointed as Non-Executive Directors.

The profiles of the Non-Executive and Executive Directors are to be found on pages 20 and 21 of this report.

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee consists of Non-Executive Directors and is chaired by Mr Fish who has taken over from Mr Cross. It is responsible for ensuring 
that the appropriate financial reporting procedures are properly maintained and reported upon, and for meeting the auditors and reviewing their reports 
relating to the accounts and internal control systems. The Committee meets on a regular basis and meets no less than three times a year. The external 
auditors attend meetings of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring key risks and has implemented through the 
internal audit department a process of reporting on and monitoring those risks. The members are Mr Fish, Mr Palmer-Tomkinson and Mr Cross.

Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee consists of all the Non-Executive Directors, is chaired by Mr Palmer-Tomkinson and includes the Chairman of the 
Board. It is responsible for reviewing the performance of the Executive Directors and, where appropriate, other senior executives, and for determining 
their appropriate levels of remuneration. The Committee also examines fees in relation to non-executive remuneration and committee Chairman.
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Nominations Committee
The Nominations Committee consists of the Chairman of the Board and all the Non-Executive Directors. The Committee considers and makes 
recommendations on the appointment of Directors, Chairman of Committees, senior management and directors to Group subsidiary companies.  
The Nominations Committee is chaired by Mr Palmer-Tomkinson in addition to his role as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. 

Health, Safety and Environmental Committee 
The Board has established a Health and Safety Committee chaired by Tim Wadeson. The other current members of the Committee are  
Mr Palmer-Tomkinson, Mr Korobov, Mr Nevidomi, and Mr Baxter. The Committee considers with management the development and training  
aides and regulatory compliance of health, safety and environmental issues. 

Other Committees
In addition, the Group management company, OOO Russdragmet (“RDM”), in Russia has established a risk and control platform through the:

RDM Board
The Board of the management company meets monthly and prepares strategic and investment decisions for the Board of Directors. It is chaired  
by Ivan Koukalov and includes the most senior executives of RDM.

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee meets weekly. The members include management of RDM functional departments and the General Directors of the mine 
sites and is chaired by Dmitry Korobov the General Director of RDM and Managing Director of the Group. Its role is to ensure the implementation  
of decisions taken by the Group boards and committees, to manage the day to day operational activities and to make recommendations to the Board 
of RDM. It delegates part of its duties to three internal RDM committees; the Risk Committee; Budget Committee and Investment Committee.

Internal Controls
The Directors have overall responsibility for the Group’s internal control and effectiveness and in safeguarding the assets of the Group. Internal 
control systems are designed to reflect the particular type of business, operations and safety risks and to identify and manage risks, but not entirely 
all risks to which the business is exposed. As a result internal controls can only provide a reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatements or loss. The processes used by the Board to review the effectiveness of the internal controls are through the Audit Committee and  
the executive management reporting to the Board on a regular basis where business plans and budgets are appraised and agreed. The Board is also 
at liberty to engage independent professional advice on risk assessment matters. It is the Board’s policy to ensure that the management structure 
and the quality and integrity of the personnel are compatible with the requirements of the Group.

Relations with Shareholders
One of the Board’s main objectives is to establish a constructive dialogue with shareholders and with the financial markets at large to present  
an accurate picture of corporate performance and prospects so as to allow the investment community to determine a realistic valuation for  
the Company. During 2004, some major initiatives have been undertaken that have contributed to raising the profile of the Group. The Group’s  
website has been providing full information on the business, results and personnel and is used for updating shareholders and the market with  
key developments and announcements (www.highlandgold.com). During the year the Company has made a number of presentations at seminars  
and visited major shareholders and investment analysts. Shareholders are encouraged to use the Annual General Meeting as a forum in which  
to participate.
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Going Concern
The Directors believe that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. The Directors are of the opinion  
that the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. In considering this the Board made suitable 
enquiries of management and reviewed in detail the cash flow forecasts for the next twelve months and budgets for 2005. 

Auditors
A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 
Ernst & Young LLP provided corporate finance services in relation to the private placing in December, 2004 and services in respect of corporate planning.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held at 12.00 pm on Tuesday 31 May, 2005 at 26 New Street, St Helier, Jersey JE2 3RA. The notice convening  
the Annual General Meeting is as set out on page 56 of this Report.

Directors’ Responsibility Statement
The Directors are required to prepare accounts for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of  
the Group and of the profit and loss of the Group for that period. In preparing those accounts, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies 
and have applied them consistently. They have made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent and have stated whether applicable 
accounting standards have been followed. The Directors prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Group will continue in business. The Directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept, which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and Group and to enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the 
Companies (Jersey) Law 1991, as amended. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and Group and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors acknowledge that their responsibility to present a balanced and understandable assessment extends to interim and other price 
sensitive public reports.

By Order of the Board

Duncan Baxter
Corporate Affairs Director

18 April, 2005
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS  
OF HIGHLAND GOLD MINING LIMITED

We have audited the Group’s Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December, 2004 which comprise the Consolidated Profit and Loss Account, 
Consolidated Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses, Consolidated Balance Sheet, Company Balance Sheet, Consolidated Cash Flow 
Statement, and the related Notes 1 to 32. These Financial Statements have been prepared on the basis of the accounting policies set out therein.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Article 110 of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the 
Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, including the Financial Statements which are required to be prepared in accordance 
with applicable Jersey law and United Kingdom accounting standards as set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in relation to the 
financial statements.

Our responsibility is to audit the Financial Statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, United Kingdom Auditing 
Standards and the AIM Rules issued by the London Stock Exchange.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom accounting 
standards, give a true and fair view and are properly prepared in accordance with the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. We also report to you if, in our 
opinion, the Directors’ Report is not consistent with the financial statements, if the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not 
received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law or the AIM Listing Rules regarding Directors’ 
remuneration and transactions with the Group is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited Financial Statements. This other 
information comprises the Director’s Report, Chairman’s Statement, Operating Review, Financial Review, and the Unaudited Historic Summary.  
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial 
statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of Audit Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with United Kingdom Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, 
on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant 
estimates and judgments made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate 
to the Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with 
sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other 
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion:

•  the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December, 2004 and of the profit  
of the Group for the year then ended; and 

• the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991.

Ernst & Young LLP
Registered Auditor
London
18 April, 2005
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 

    12 months ended 12 months ended
    31 December, 2004 31 December, 2003
   Notes US$000 US$000

TURNOVER   2 82,062 71,578

Cost of sales   3 (51,810)  (35,400)

GROSS PROFIT    30,252 36,178

Administrative costs     (11,468)  (8,286)

GROUP OPERATING PROFIT    18,784 27,892

Bank interest receivable    56 323

Interest payable and similar charges    5 (5,843) (3,846)

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)    1,232 263

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION    14,229 24,632

Tax on profit on ordinary activities   6 (9,218) (6,583)

PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD    5,011 18,049

Dividends   21  (2,672)  (3,456)

PROFIT RETAINED FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD    2,339 14,593

RETAINED EARNINGS BROUGHT FORWARD    20,660 6,067

RETAINED EARNINGS CARRIED FORWARD    22,999 20,660

Basic earnings per share (US$)   24 0.042 0.163

Diluted earnings per share (US$)   24 0.042 0.163

There is no material difference between the reported profit and the historical cost profit for the period to 31 December, 2004.

There are no recognised gains and losses other than the profit attributable to Shareholders of the Company of $5,011,000 in the year ended  
31 December, 2004 and the profit of $18,049,000 in the year ended 31 December, 2003.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

    At 31 December, At 31 December, 
    2004 2003
   Notes US$000  US$000

FIXED ASSETS    

Intangible assets – negative goodwill   8 (8,796) (8,074)

Tangible assets   7 224,214 146,017

    215,418 137,943

CURRENT ASSETS   

Stocks   10 41,953 27,811

Debtors   11 37,356 23,609

Deferred costs     1,526 1,751

Cash at bank and in hand    40,764 5,361

    121,599 58,532

CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year   12 (83,931) (76,517)

NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)    37,668 (17,985)

   

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES    253,086 119,958

   

CREDITORS: amounts falling due after more than one year  13 (23,098) (30,734)

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES   14 (19,714) (12,222)

MINORITY INTERESTS – EQUITY    (338) (1,445)

    209,936 75,557

EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS   

Called up share capital    19 233 162

Share premium   20 186,704 54,735

Profit and loss account   20 22,999 20,660

    209,936 75,557

Approved by the Board on 18 April, 2005

James Cross Dmitry Korobov
Chairman Managing Director
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

    At 31 December, At 31 December, 
    2004 2003
   Notes US$000  US$000

FIXED ASSETS    

Investments   29  30,722 30,722

    30,722 30,722

CURRENT ASSETS   

Debtors   30 123,992 27,241

Cash at bank and in hand    37,206 678

    161,198 27,919

   

CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year   31 (3,492) (3,727)

NET CURRENT ASSETS    157,706 24,192

   

NET ASSETS    188,428 54,914

EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS   

Called up share capital    19 233 162

Share premium   32 186,704 54,735

Profit and loss account   32 1,491 17

    188,428 54,914

Profit for the period for the Company was US$4,146,000.

Approved by the Board on 18 April, 2005

James Cross Dmitry Korobov
Chairman Managing Director
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

    12 months ended 12 months ended
    31 December, 2004 31 December, 2003
   Notes US$000 US$000

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITY    23(a) 25,610 32,743

Changes in working capital   23(a) (15,155) (25,141)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    23(a) 10,455 7,602

RETURNS ON INVESTMENT AND SERVICING OF FINANCE   

Interest received    56 323

Interest paid on bank loans    (4,386) (1,573)

Interest paid on finance leases    (468) (786)

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM RETURNS ON INVESTMENT AND SERVICING OF FINANCE  (4,798) (2,036)

TAXATION   

Russian profits tax refund (paid)    491 (5,339)

 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCIAL INVESTMENT   

Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets    (69,168) (56,883)

NET CASH OUTFLOW ON CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCIAL INVESTMENT  (69,168) (56,883)

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS   

Purchase of subsidiary undertakings    (11,885) (11,986)

Net cash acquired with subsidiary undertakings    – 401

Acquisition of Taseevskoye rights     (26,785) 

NET CASH OUTFLOW ON ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS   (38,670) (11,585)

Equity dividends paid    (2,997) (2,763)

NET CASH OUTFLOW BEFORE FINANCING    (104,687) (71,004)

FINANCING   

Issue of ordinary share capital     140,515 –

Share issue costs     (7,261) –

Receipt of short-term loans    105,788 44,110

Receipt of long-term loans    31,000 40,000

Repayment of borrowings    (131,770) (32,040)

Loan arrangement fees    – (540)

Receipt from sale and leaseback transactions    5,264 –

Repayment of capital element of finance leases     (3,485) (1,738)

CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING     140,051 49,792

INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH     35,364 (21,212)

RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT   

Increase/(decrease) in cash     35,364 (21,212)

Receipt from sale and leaseback transactions    (5,264) –

Repayment of capital element of finance leases    3,485 1,738

Movements in loans    (5,018) (51,530)

MOVEMENTS IN NET DEBT ARISING FROM CASH FLOWS   28,567 (71,004)

Other movement in long-term payables    1,717 832

Disposal of lease liability    – 4,338

New finance leases and other    (1,580) (2,962)

Exchange differences    39 48

MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT    28,743 (68,748)

NET DEBT AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD    (66,437) 2,311

NET CASH/(DEBT) AT END OF PERIOD   23(b) (37,694) (66,437)
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Accounting Policies
Basis of consolidation
The Financial Statements present the accounts of Highland Gold Mining Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiary undertakings, (the “Group”)  
drawn up for the year ended 31 December, 2004. The results of subsidiaries acquired are consolidated for the periods from the date on which control 
passes. On the acquisition of a subsidiary, or an associate, fair values reflecting conditions at the date of acquisition are attributed to the identifiable 
net assets acquired.

Basis of Preparation
These Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable United Kingdom  
accounting standards.

Russian Political and Economic Risks
Over the past decade Russia has undergone substantial political, economic and social changes. As an emerging market, Russia does not possess 
a fully developed business and regulatory infrastructure that would generally exist in a more mature market economy. The current Government 
is attempting to address these issues; however, it has not yet fully implemented the reforms necessary to create banking, judicial and regulatory 
systems that usually exist in more developed markets. As a result, and as reflected in the Government’s debt default and rouble devaluation in 
1998, operations in Russia involve risks that are not typically associated with those in more developed markets. Such risks persist in the current 
environment with results that include but are not limited to, a currency that is not freely convertible outside of the country, various currency controls, 
low liquidity levels for debt and equity markets, and continuing inflation. Furthermore, substantially all privatisations in Russia in the early 1990s were 
flawed in some manner, and even the most minor and administrative flaw in the privatisation documents may be invoked as a basis for challenging 
the validity of the privatisation process as a whole and thus the title to assets acquired as a result of privatisation. The environment is such that the 
state, local authorities and administration, the former owners of property and other interested parties can attempt to obstruct normal business 
operations of a company. Accordingly, the stability and success of the Russian economy, and the Group’s business, will depend upon the Government’s 
ability to institute supervisory, judicial and other regulatory reforms.

Foreign Currency
United States dollar (“US$”) is the functional and reporting currency. All transactions are translated into dollars at the historic exchange rate,  
and by retranslating monetary assets and liabilities into dollars at the current rate at each balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the profit 
and loss account. The accounting records of the Company’s subsidiary undertakings are maintained in local currencies. The following exchange rates 
have been applied:

The principal exchange rates against US dollars were: 

    12 months ended  12 months ended
    31 December, 2004  31 December, 2003

Average  

RUR    28.81 30.68

GBP    0.546 0.612

Closing  

RUR    27.75 29.45

GBP    0.519 0.563

Turnover
Revenue is recognised when the legal title of the asset sold is transferred. Sales revenue represents proceeds receivable from the customer,  
net of value added tax (VAT) and sales discounts.

Cost of Sales
Cost of sales represents material cost, determined by the weighted average method, and by applying full absorption costing, plus any other costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition of materials as well as manufacturing overheads.
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1. Accounting Policies continued
Investments
Investments, other than investments in subsidiaries and associates, are measured at cost less any impairment losses.

Goodwill
In an acquisition, the excess of fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired over the consideration paid, is accounted for as negative goodwill.  
This negative goodwill is then amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the non-monetary assets acquired.

Other Financial Assets
Other financial assets originated by the Group are stated at cost less a provision for doubtful debts.

Tangible Fixed Assets
Tangible fixed assets comprise mainly mining assets including mineral rights, development expenditure, shafts, buildings, equipment, vehicles  
and incremental unavoidable costs. Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Mineral Properties and Mine Development Expenditure
Once a mining project has been established as commercially viable, expenditure other than that on buildings, plant and equipment is capitalised 
under mineral properties and mine development expenditure account.

Interest on borrowings to specifically finance the establishment of mining assets is capitalized until commercial levels of production are achieved.

Mineral properties, deferred costs and capitalized interest are, upon commencement of production, amortised using the unit of production method 
based on the volumes of proved and probable reserves of ore and are written-off if the property is abandoned.

All existing mine sites are established as commercially viable and hence are included in tangible fixed assets.

Other Tangible Assets
The cost of a tangible fixed asset comprises its purchase price and any costs directly attributable to bringing it into working condition for its intended 
use. Costs associated with a start up period are capitalised where the asset is available for use but incapable of operating at normal levels without  
a commissioning period.

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortisation
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets, other than mineral properties and mine development expenditure, is calculated on a straight line basis.  
Assets are fully depreciated over their economic lives. The estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows:

Buildings  17 years
Plant and equipment  7-17 years

Changes in estimates are accounted for over the estimated remaining economic life.

Construction Work in Progress
Assets in the course of construction are capitalised in the construction work in progress account. On completion, the cost of construction  
is transferred to the appropriate category of tangible fixed assets.

No depreciation is charged on assets in the capital work in progress account. These assets are depreciated upon their transfer to the appropriate 
category of tangible fixed assets.

Impairment
If the carrying amount of a fixed asset exceeds the recoverable amount, a provision is recorded to reflect the asset at the lower amount. In assessing 
recoverable amount for property, plant and equipment and investments, the relevant future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use  
of such assets and from their disposal have been discounted to their present value using a market determined, risk-adjusted discount rate.
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1. Accounting Policies continued
Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, less any provision for slow moving and obsolete items. Cost includes all costs incurred 
in bringing each product to its present location and condition. Stock is categorised as follows:

• Raw materials and consumables: Materials, goods or supplies to be either directly or indirectly consumed in the production process.

•  Work in progress: Items stored in an intermediate state that have not yet passed through all stages of production.

•  Finished goods: Products and materials that have passed all stages of the manufacturing process.

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Deferred Stripping Costs
Stripping costs incurred during the production phase to remove waste ore are deferred to the balance sheet and charged to operating costs on 
the basis of the average life of the mine stripping ratio. The average stripping ratio is calculated as the number of cubic meters of waste material 
removed per tonne of ore mined. The average life of the mine ratio is revised annually in the light of additional knowledge and change in estimates. 
The cost of “excess stripping” is deferred at balance sheet when the actual stripping ratio exceeds the average life of the mine stripping ratio.

Deferred Financing Costs
Financing costs, incurred on issuance of debt, are deferred and charged against earnings over the term of the indebtedness except for those 
capitalized to mineral properties.

Provisions for Liabilities and Charges
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation, as a result of past events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources that  
can be reliably estimated will be required to settle such obligation.

Environmental Protection, Rehabilitation and Closure Costs
Provision is made for close down and restoration and for environmental clean up costs, where there is a legal or constructive obligation to do so, 
(which includes the dismantling and demolition of infrastructure, removal of residual materials and remediation of disturbed areas) in the accounting 
period when the related environmental disturbance occurs, based on the estimated future costs. The provision is discounted where material and the 
unwinding of the discount is shown as a finance cost in the profit and loss account. At the time of establishing the provision, a corresponding asset,  
is capitalised and depreciated on a unit of production basis.

The provision is reviewed on an annual basis for changes in cost estimates or lives of operations.

Deferred Taxation
The tax charge is based on the profit for the period and takes into account taxation deferred because of timing differences between the treatment  
of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date, with the exception that 
deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the Directors consider that it is more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits 
from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing differences reverse, 
based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
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1. Accounting Policies continued
Leasing and Hire Purchase Commitments
Assets held under finance leases, which are leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset have passed to the Group, 
and hire purchase contracts, are capitalised in the balance sheet and are depreciated over their useful lives. The capital elements of future obligations 
under leases and hire purchase contracts are included as liabilities in the balance sheet. The interest elements of the rental obligations are charged 
in the profit and loss account over the periods of the leases and hire purchase contracts and represent a constant proportion of the balance of capital 
repayments outstanding.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged in the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Pensions
Contributions to the pension funds are expensed as incurred. The Group does not contribute to any defined benefit pension schemes.

Capital Instruments
Shares are included in shareholders’ funds. Other instruments are classified as liabilities if they contain an obligation to transfer economic benefit 
and if not they are included in shareholders’ funds.

2. Turnover and Segmental Analysis
The Group operates in one principal area of activity, that of exploration and production of gold. It also operates within a single geographical market, 
being the Russian Federation. All sales are made within the Russian Federation. There were no discontinued operations during the period.  
The turnover and other profit and loss amounts relating to acquired operations are not material.

3. Cost of Sales

    12 months ended 12 months ended 
    31 December, 2004 31 December, 2003
    US$000  US$000

Operating costs    39,258 25,988 

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation    6,826 4,372

Taxes other than income tax    5,726 5,040

    51,810 35,400

   

Depreciation of owned assets    5,349 2,907

Depreciation of leased assets    1,477 1,465

    6,826 4,372

4.  Auditors’ Remuneration

    12 months ended 12 months ended 
    31 December, 2004 31 December, 2003
    US$000  US$000

Group audit    500 532

Fees for other services    300 17

    800 549

Fees for other services include US$229,000 relating to services provided in relation to the equity raising during the year, which have been  
recorded in equity.
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5. Interest Payable and Similar Charges

    12 months ended 12 months ended 
    31 December, 2004 31 December, 2003
    US$000  US$000

Bank loans    4,659 1,748

Finance charges payable under finance leases    468 1,219

Unwinding of discount on provisions for liabilities and charges   716 879

    5,843 3,846

6. Tax on Profit on Ordinary Activities
(a) Analysis of tax charge in the period
    12 months ended 12 months ended 
    31 December, 2004 31 December, 2003
    US$000  US$000

Current tax:   

Russian profit tax for the period    2,212 4,951

Total current tax (Note 6 (b))    2,212 4,951

Deferred tax:   

Adjustment to prior period    196 –

Derecognition of prior year tax losses    987 –

Unrecognised tax losses arising during current year    3,353 –

Origination and reversal of timing differences    2,470 1,632

Total deferred tax    7,006 1,632

Tax on profit on ordinary activities    9,218 6,583
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6. Tax on Profit on Ordinary Activities continued
(b) Factors affecting tax charge for the period
The differences between the effective provision for Russian profits tax and the statutory tax provision at the statutory rate is reconciled as follows:

    12 months ended 12 months ended 
    31 December, 2004 31 December, 2003
    US$000  US$000

Profit on ordinary activities before tax    14,229 24,632

Standard tax rate    24% 24%

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate    3,415 5,912

Effects of:   

Permanent differences

 Foreign exchange differences    1,254 63

 Lower tax rates on overseas earnings    (990) (829)

 Non deductible expenses    884 30

 Other permanent differences    119 1,407

    1,267 671

Timing differences

 Fixed asset timing differences    (6,900) (3,927)

 Tax losses    1,464 2,525

 Other    (387) (230)

    (5,823) (1,632)

Unrecognised tax losses and other timing differences    3,353 –

Current tax charge for the period    2,212 4,951

(c) Factors affecting tax charges
Russia has a number of laws related to various taxes imposed by both federal and regional governmental authorities. Applicable taxes include value 
added tax, corporate income tax (profits tax), a number of turnover based taxes, and payroll (social) taxes, together with others. In addition, the 
subsidiaries of the Company are also subject to various industry taxes including mineral extraction taxes. Laws related to some of these taxes have 
not been in force for significant periods, in contrast to more developed market economies; therefore, regulations are often unclear or non-existent. 
Accordingly, few precedents with regard to issues have been established. Often, differing opinions regarding legal interpretation exist both among  
and within government ministries and organisations (like the Ministry of Taxes and Levies and various inspectorates); thus creating uncertainties  
and areas of conflict. Tax declarations, together with other legal compliance areas (as examples, customs and currency control matters), are subject 
to review and investigation by a number of authorities, who are enabled by law to impose extremely severe fines, penalties and interest charges. 
These facts create tax risks in Russia substantially more significant than typically found in countries with more developed tax systems.

Generally, tax declarations remain open and subject to inspection for a period of three years. As of 31 December, 2004, a substantial portion of the tax 
declarations of the Group have been reviewed through to 31 December, 2003. Management believes that the Group is in substantial compliance with 
the tax laws affecting its operations; however, the risk remains that the relevant authorities could take differing positions with regard to interpretative 
issues and the effect could be significant. The fact that a year has been reviewed does not close that year, or any tax declaration applicable to that 
year, from further review during the three-year period.
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7. Tangible Fixed Assets
Tangible fixed assets comprise mining assets:
   Mineral properties
   and mine 
 Freehold Plant and development Construction 
 buildings equipment expenditure  in progress Total
 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

Cost:     

At 31 December, 2003  6,699 21,609 108,096  15,428 151,832

Additions – 14,764 16,278 27,196 58,238

Acquisitions – – 26,785 – 26,785

Transfers 6,985 1,124 – (8,109) –

At 31 December, 2004 13,684 37,497 151,159 34,515 236,855

Accumulated depreciation:     

At 31 December, 2003 (672) (1,673) (3,470) – (5,815)

Provided during the period (487) (2,224) (4,115) – (6,826)

At 31 December, 2004 (1,159) (3,897) (7,585) – (12,641)

Net book value:     

At 31 December, 2004 12,525 33,600 143,574 34,515 224,214

At 31 December, 2003 6,027 19,936 104,626 15,428 146,017

The net book value of plant and equipment above includes an amount of US$16,682,000 (at 31 December, 2003 – US$8,074,000), relating  
to leased assets. 

On 22 November, 2004, the Group won the public auction to acquire the rights of the Taseevskoye deposit with the bid of US$26.8 million.  
The amount is included into additions to Mining assets. 

8. Negative Goodwill

      Total
     US$000

Cost  

At 1 January, 2004      (8,074)

Additions      (722)

At 31 December, 2004       (8,796)

An additional 9.15 per cent interest in Novo was acquired during 2004 for the purchase consideration of US$385,000. Additional negative goodwill  
of US$722,000 was recognised on this transaction. The negative goodwill will be amortised over a period of 15 years on a straight-line basis when  
the production of the field commences.
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9. Investments
Details of the investments in which the Group and the Company controls 20 per cent or more of the nominal value of ordinary share capital are  
as follows:

  Country of  Proportion of 
Name of company  incorporation  voting rights Nature of business

Held indirectly via 100% owned subsidiaries   

ZAO Mnogovershinnoye (MNV)  Russia 100% Gold exploration and production

OOO Darasunsky Rudnik (Darasun)  Russia 100% Gold exploration and production

OAO Novoshirokinskoye Rudnik (Novo)  Russia 96.51% Gold exploration and production

OOO ZK Mayskoye  Russia 100% Gold exploration and production

ZAO Talatui (Talatui)  Russia 100% Gold exploration and production

OOO Russdragmet (RDM)  Russia 100% Management company

OOO Highlandgold Finance  Russia 100% Financial services company

ZAO Trade House Mnogovershinnoye (THM)  Russia 100% Services company

OOO Trade House Dauria (THD)  Russia 100% Services company

OOO Zabaikalzolotoproekt (ZZP)  Russia 100% Construction design

OOO Investment Mining and Geological Company (IMGC) Russia 80% Gold exploration

Held directly by the Company   

Stanmix Holding Limited (Stanmix)  Cyprus 100% Holding company

Stanmix Investments Limited (STIL)  Cyprus 100% Financing company

Acquisitions During 2004:
OOO Investment Mining and Geological Company
On 7 September, 2004, the Group acquired an 80 per cent interest in the exploration company Investment Mining & Geology Company (“IMGC LLC”) 
for consideration of US$27,500, plus US$3/oz payable on 80 per cent of the C1+C2 resources discovered and approved by 2014. The Group also  
has the option to acquire the remaining 20 per cent at US$20/oz of these reserves.

Taseevskoye
On 23 September, 2004 the Group won, in open auction, the licence for exploration and production rights for the Taseevskoye deposit in the Chita 
region of Siberia. The provisional assessment of the fair values is outlined below:

     Provisional
      fair value
     US$000

Fair value of the Taseevskoye deposit acquired     26,785

Discharged by:

Cash     26,785

     26,785

The book value of this deposit at the time of acquisition was nil.

Novoshirokinskoye
During 2004, the Group acquired additional 9.15 per cent interest in Novo for the consideration of US$385,000, increasing its total shareholding to 
96.51 per cent. The fair value of the net assets acquired was US$1,107,000. Negative goodwill of US$722,000 was created following this transaction.

Mayskoe 
As permitted by FRS7 “Fair values in acquisition accounting”, the fair values of the assets and liabilities of Mayskoe included in the financial 
statements for the period ended 31 December, 2003 have been finalised with no change to the numbers previously reported. 
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10. Stocks

    At 31 December, At 31 December, 
    2004 2003
    US$000  US$000

Raw materials and consumables     21,778 16,085

Fuel     3,487 2,938

Spare parts    7,876 4,106

Construction materials    1,885 378

Work in progress     6,703 4,454

Finished goods     229 200

     41,958 28,161

Less provision for obsolete items    (5) (350)

     41,953 27,811

The difference between the purchase price or production cost of stocks, and their replacement cost is not material.

11. Debtors

    At 31 December, At 31 December, 
    2004 2003
    US$000  US$000

Recoverable value added tax     19,950 13,808

Prepayments    14,615 7,926

Other debtors*    2,987 1,989

     37,552 23,723

Less provision for doubtful debts    (196) (114)

     37,356 23,609

Included in the figures above, is an amount of $4,090,000 (2003 – $5,069,000) due in more than one year.

*Included in “Other debtors” is an amount of $88,264 (2003 – nil) representing advances to Directors.
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12. Creditors: Amounts Falling Due Within One Year

    At 31 December, At 31 December, 
    2004 2003
    US$000  US$000

Trade creditors    5,605 4,052

Profit tax    2,758 504

Taxes other than profit tax    2,452 1,646

Salaries payable    2,344 1,586

Other creditors    3,054 3,352

Short-term loans (Note 16)    50,877 49,941

Deferred consideration     11,500 11,500

Obligation under finance leases and hire purchase contracts (Note 17)   3,868 2,138

Proposed final dividend    1,473 1,798

    83,931 76,517

Short-term loans are US dollar denominated, and are partly secured by Group’s assets and further sales of gold.

13. Creditors: Amounts Falling Due After More Than One Year

    At 31 December, At 31 December, 
    2004 2003
    US$000  US$000

Other creditors (Note 16)    20,378 18,144

Deferred consideration     – 11,500

Obligation under finance leases and hire purchase contracts (Note 17)   2,720 1,090

    23,098 30,734 

14. Provisions for Liabilities and Charges

    At 31 December, At 31 December, 
    2004 2003
    US$000  US$000

Deferred tax (Note 15)    9,537 2,530

Site restoration provision (Note 18)    10,177 9,692

    19,714 12,222
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15. Deferred Tax
Deferred tax included in the balance sheet is as follows:

    At 31 December, At 31 December, 
    2004 2003
    US$000  US$000

Deferred tax balance at the beginning of period     2,530 852

Adjustment to prior period    196 46

Derecognition of prior year tax losses    987 –

Unrecognised tax losses arising during current year    3,353 –

Charged to the profit and loss account    2,470 1,632

Deferred tax balance at the end of period    9,537 2,530
 
Deferred tax comprises:
    At 31 December, At 31 December, 
    2004 2003
    US$000  US$000

Fixed asset timing differences    12,189 5,093

Tax losses    (3,034) (2,557)

Other timing differences    382 (6)

Total deferred tax liability    9,537 2,530

No deferred tax benefit is recognised in relation to the site restoration provision. Restoration expenses are tax deductible when incurred. However, 
it is not certain that there will be sufficient income towards the end of the mine’s life against which the restoration expenditure can be offset and 
therefore future tax relief has not been assumed. The amount of the related deferred tax asset not recognised at 31 December, 2004 is US$866,000  
(at 31 December, 2003 – US$667,000).

No deferred tax benefit recognised in relation to tax losses accumulated at Darasun mine, which are to be recovered in excess of 30 per cent of 
recorded deferred tax liability and are to be recovered in more than three years time. No deferred tax benefit recognised in relation to accumulated  
tax losses at Mayskoye and Novo mines reflecting the fact that significant time may pass when such losses will be possible to recover. 

Total amount of tax losses not recognised in amount at 31 December, 2004 is US$4,340,000.

16. Loans and Other Creditors

    At 31 December, At 31 December, 
    2004 2003
    US$000  US$000

Amounts falling due:   

Within one year    50,877 49,941

In one to two years    6,399 17,026

In two to five years    14,595 1,604

    71,871 68,571

Less: bank arrangement fees    (616) (486)

    71,255 68,085

Less: included in creditors: amounts falling due within one year (Note 12)   (50,877) (49,941)

    20,378 18,144

The total amount of secured loans as at 31 December, 2004 is US$70,877,000 (at December, 2003 – US$65,860,000). The loans are secured over  
fixed assets and stock. 
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17. Obligations Under Leases and Hire Purchase Contracts
Amounts due under finance leases and hire purchase contracts:

    At 31 December, At 31 December, 
    2004 2003
    US$000  US$000

Amounts falling due:   

Within one year    3,868 2,138

In one to two years    2,245 967

In two to five years    475 123

Total obligations under lease    6,588 3,228

Less: included in obligations under lease: amounts falling due within one year  (3,868) (2,138)

Total    2,720 1,090

18. Site Restoration Provision
Provisions for environmental restoration comprise:
     Total
     US$000

At 1 January, 2004     9,692

Unwinding of discount     485

At 31 December, 2004     10,177

Environmental restoration provisions relate to obligations to repair and make safe mines after use and the estimated costs of cleaning up any 
chemical leakage. Most of these costs are expected to be incurred at the end of the mines’ useful operations, approximately between 2015-2022.  
The extent and cost of future remediation programmes are inherently difficult to estimate. They depend on the scale of any possible contamination 
and the timing and extent of corrective actions. The provision has been estimated using existing technology, current prices, and prudent 
interpretations of the relevant legislation and discounted at 5 per cent.

19. Share Capital – Authorised, Allotted, Called up and Fully Paid

    At 31 December, At 31 December, 
    2004 2003
    US$000  US$000

Authorised  

300,000,000 Ordinary shares of £0.001 each    440 440

Allotted, called up and fully paid  

110,525,821 Ordinary shares £0.001 each     162

147,336,856 Ordinary shares £0.001 each    233

On 3 February, 2004 the Company issued 9,312,439 new ordinary shares at a price of 235p per share to Barrick Gold Corporation (“Barrick”)  
of Canada. The share issue costs of $US2.0 million were incurred.

On 13 September, 2004 86,315 ordinary shares were issued to WH Ireland Limited in respect of their warrant agreement for up to 276,315  
ordinary shares in the Company under terms agreed at the time of the Company’s admission to AIM in December, 2002.

On 14 December, 2004 the Company placed a further 27,412,281 new ordinary shares for cash of US$100.2 million at 190p per share. The share  
issue costs of US$6.5 million were incurred.
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20. Reserves

    Share premium  Profit and
    account loss account
    US$000  US$000

Balance at 31 December, 2003    54,735 20,660

Arising on share issues    140,444 –

Share issue costs incurred in the period    (8,475) –

Retained profit for the period    – 2,339

Balance at 31 December, 2004    186,704 22,999

21. Dividends and Other Appropriations

    12 months ended 12 months ended 
    31 December, 2004 31 December, 2003
    US$000  US$000

Dividends:   

Equity dividends on ordinary shares:  

interim paid 1.0c (2003 – 1.5c)    1,199 1,658

final proposed 1.0c (2003 – 1.5c)    1,473 1,798

     2,672 3,456

22. Reconciliation of Shareholders’ Funds

    12 months ended 12 months ended 
    31 December, 2004 31 December, 2003
    US$000  US$000

Shareholders’ funds at the beginning of period     75,557 60,925

Shares issued during the period    140,000 –

Share issue costs incurred in prior period    (7,960) 39

Profit and loss retained for the period    2,339 14,593

Shareholders’ funds at end of period    209,936 75,557
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23. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement
(a) Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating activities

    12 months ended 12 months ended 
    31 December, 2004 31 December, 2003
    US$000  US$000

Operating profit    18,784 27,892

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation     6,826 4,372

 Other non cash    – 479

Cash generated from operating activity     25,610 32,743

Changes in working capital:  

 Increase in debtors    (2,426) (2,746)

 Increase in stock    (8,637) (13,445)

 Decrease/(increase) in deferred costs    225 (1,250)

 Decrease in creditors    (186) (253)

 Increase in VAT    (5,032) (4,836)

 Decrease in provisions    901 (2,611)

Total changes in working capital    (15,155) (25,141)

Net cash inflow from operating activities     10,455 7,602

(b) Analysis of net debt

 As at  Exchange  As at
  31 December, 2003 Cash flow  difference Other non cash  December, 2004
 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

Cash in bank and in hand 5,361 20,364 39 – 25,764

Short-term deposit* – 15,000 – – 15,000

Capital element of finance leases (3,228) (1,779) – (1,580) (6,587)

Loans and other long-term creditors (68,570) (5,018) – 1,717 (71,871)

Total (66,437) 28,567 39 137 (37,694)

*Short-term deposits are included within cash at bank and in hand in the balance sheet.

24. Earnings per Share

    12 months ended 12 months ended 
    31 December, 2004 31 December, 2003

Profit for the period attributable to shareholders (US$000)   5,011 18,049

Weighted average number of shares in issue    120,351,004 110,525,821

Basic and diluted earnings per share    0.042 0.163
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25. Financial Instruments
The Group’s financial instruments comprise borrowings, investments, cash, deposits and various items, such as trade debtors, trade creditors  
and contractual provisions arising in the ordinary course of its operations. The Group does not acquire, hold or issue derivative instruments  
for trading purposes.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate and foreign currency risk. The Group remains unhedged against  
these exposures.

Interest rate risk
The Group finances its operations through a mixture of retained earnings and bank borrowings. Borrowings are denominated in Russian roubles  
and US dollars. These borrowings bear interest at both fixed rates and variable as disclosed below.

With the exception of the analysis of currency exposure, the analysis below excludes short-term debtors and creditors.

Financial Liabilities – Interest Rate Profile for the Group as at 31 December, 2004

  Bearing interest Bearing interest Weighted
  at fixed rate  at variable rate  average rate Interest free Total
 Currency US$000 US$000 % US$000 US$000

Short-term loans USD 18,935 – 7.00 – 18,935

Short-term loans RUR 4,685 – 9.88 – 4,685

Short-term loans EUR 285 – 8.50 – 285

Long-term loans USD 6,000 40,919 7.91 – 46,919

Other long-term creditors RUR – –  838 838

Capital element of finance leases USD 6,587 – 10.34 – 6,587

  36,492 40,919  838 78,249

Weighted average period for the loans bearing interest at fixed rates is less than one year.

The floating rate financial liabilities comprise US dollar denominated bank loans that bear interest at rates based on the one month LIBOR.

The weighted average period of the capital element of finance leases is four years.

Financial Liabilities – Interest Rate Profile for the Group as at 31 December, 2003
  
      Bearing interest Bearing interest Weighted
      at fixed rate  at variable rate  average rate Interest free Total
     Currency US$000 US$000 % US$000 US$000

Short-term loans USD 28,715 – 8.31 – 28,715

Long-term loans USD – 37,144 6.48 – 37,144

Other long-term creditors  RUR – – – 14,211 14,211

Capital element of finance leases RUR, USD 3,228 – 12.50 – 3,228

  31,943 37,144  14,211 83,298

The weighted average period of the capital element of finance leases is four years.
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25. Financial Instruments continued
Financial Assets – Interest Rate Profile for the Group as at 31 December, 2004

  Fixed rate Weighted
   financial assets  average rate Interest free Total
 Currency US$000 % US$000 US$000

Cash at bank and in hand RUR, USD, GBP 25,764  1.00 – 25,764

Cash deposits  USD 15,000  3.83 – 15,000

  40,764  – 40,764

The weighted average period during which interest rates are fixed on financial assets is less than one year.

Cash deposits represent a 30 day deposit in the amount of US$10 million bearing interest at a fixed rate of 4 per cent and a 14 day deposit in the 
amount of US$5 million bearing interest at a fixed rate of 3.5 per cent.

Financial Assets – Interest Rate Profile for the Group as at 31 December, 2003

    Fixed rate 
    financial assets Total
   Currency US$000 US$000

Cash at bank and in hand   RUR, USD, GBP 5,361 5,361

    5,361 5,361

The weighted average period for the financial assets with fixed interest rates is less than one year.

Currency Exposures
The table below shows the Group’s net currency exposures on the monetary assets and liabilities of the Group that are not denominated in US$: 

    At 31 At 31
     December, 2004  December, 2003
    US$000 US$000

Net monetary assets/(liabilities)  

RUR    4,990 15,274

EUR    (309) –

GBP    21,214 (1,451)

    25,895 13,823

Borrowing Facilities
The Group has various borrowing facilities available to it. The undrawn committed facilities available at 31 December in respect of which  
all conditions precedent had been met at that date are as follows:

    At 31 At 31
     December, 2004  December, 2003
    US$000 US$000

Expiring in one year or less    7,800 –

Expiring in more than one year but not more than two years   12,477 –

Expiring in more than two years    18,723 –

    39,000 –
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25. Financial Instruments continued
Fair Values of Financial assets and liabilities:
  Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
   31 December, 2004  31 December, 2004  31 December, 2003  31 December, 2003
  US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

Short-term borrowings and current portion 

of long-term borrowings   50,877 50,464 49,941 48,941

Other short-term creditors   33,054 32,306 26,576 25,828

Creditors due after more than one year  23,098 19,892 30,374 26,807

Debtors   37,356 36,424 23,609 22,807

Cash and short-term deposits   40,764 40,764 5,361 5,361

The fair values of all items have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates. 

26. Post Balance Sheet Events
On 6 April, 2005 the Group completed the sale of rouble denominated bonds in the amount of Rb750,000,000 (US$26.8 million). The bonds were  
priced at par (Rb1000) with a 12 per cent annual coupon rate, payable quarterly, and a three year maturity.

27. Related Party Transactions 
Fleming Family & Partners (“FF&P”) and Highland Gold Mining are companies with common shareholders. During the year ended 31 December, 
2003, an agreement was entered into with FF&P for the provision of corporate consultancy services, for which FF&P charge US$10,000 per month. 
For the year ended 31 December, 2004, FF&P had charged US$120,000 under this agreement (2003 – US$50,000), in addition to US$1,700,000 for 
services provided in relation to share issues to Barrick Gold in February, 2004 and placing at AIM in December, 2004.

In addition to the advances to Directors disclosed in Note 11, the Group also guaranteed certain loans to Directors, totaling US$0.6 million.

28. Capital Commitments 
Amounts contracted for but not provided for in the financial statements amounted to US$5,106,000 for the Group (at 31 December, 2003 – 
US$5,074,000).

Notes 29 to 32 are in respect of the Company balance sheet (refer to page 30).

29. Investments
    At 31 At 31
     December, 2004  December, 2003
    US$000 US$000

Cost and net book value:

At 31 December, 2003     30,722 30,722

    30,722 30,722

Refer to Note 9 for details of the investments held by the Company.

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
continued
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30. Debtors
    At 31 At 31
     December, 2004  December, 2003
    US$000 US$000

Amount due from group undertakings     123,170 25,609

Prepayments    822 232

Dividends receivable    – 1,400

Total debtors    123,992 27,241

Amounts due from the Group undertakings include $23.5 million (2003 – US$12.0 million) receivable in greater than one year.

31. Creditors: Amounts Falling Due Within One Year
    At 31 At 31
     December, 2004  December, 2003
    US$000 US$000

Other creditors    2,019 1,929

Proposed final dividend    1,473 1,798

     3,492 3,727

32. Reserves
    Share premium  Profit and
    account loss account
    US$000 US$000

Balance at 31 December, 2003    54,735 17

Share issue    131,969 –

Retained profit for the period    – 1,474

Balance at 31 December, 2004    186,704 1,491
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UNAUDITED HISTORIC SUMMARY

 12 months 6 months 6 months 6 months 6 months 6 months
  ended   ended  ended  ended ended  ended
 31 December, 2004 31 December, 2004 30 June, 2004 31 December, 2003 30 June, 2003 31 December, 2002
Balance sheet US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

Non-current assets 215,418 215,418 154,977 137,943 60,618 51,779

Current assets 121,599 121,599 76,691 58,532 44,463 51,312

Total assets 337,017 337,017 231,668 196,475 105,081 103,091

Non-current liabilities 42,812 42,812 42,027 42,956 19,730 17,442

Current liabilities 83,931 83,931 69,771 76,517 17,245 24,242

Minority interests 338 338 1,024 1,445 347 482

Equity 209,936 209,936 118,846 75,557 67,759 60,925

Total liabilities and equity 337,017 337,017 231,668 196,475  105,081 103,091

Production (oz) 199,896 102,910 96,986 103,866 90,133 87,281

  

Profit and loss account 

Sales 82,062 43,903 38,159 40,199 31,379 27,420

Operating profit 18,784 7,965 10,819 15,651 12,241 6,370

Other gains and losses including interest net (4,555) (2,042) (2,513) (2,757) (503) 822

Profit before taxation 14,229 5,923 8,306 12,894 11,738 7,192

Tax  (9,218) (7,400) (1,818) (3,337) (3,246) (1,840)

Profit after taxation 5,011 (1,477) 6,488 9,557 8,492 5,352

Dividends (2,672) (1,473) (1,199) (1,798) (1,658) (1,105)

Retained earnings  2,339 (2,950) 5,289 7,759 6,834 4,247

Statistical      

Shares issued, average 120,351,004 122,528,340 118,149,741 110,525,821 110,525,821 100,858,083

EPS 0.042 (0.012) 0.055 0.086 0.077 0.052

Dividends per share 0.02 0.01 0.01 0.016 0.015 0.010

Dividend cover 1.88 (1.00) 5.41 5.31 5.12 4.84

Interest cover 5.6 2.71 5.60 6.93 10.94 7.00

RECONCILIATION OF MNV TOTAL CASH 

COST PER OZ TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Cost of sales 51,810 29,010 22,800 19,662 15,738 17,751

Administration expenses 11,468 6,928 4,540 4,886 3,400 3,479

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation (6,826) (3,760) (3,066) (2,423) (1,949) (1,381)

Management expenses not related  

to production at MNV (8,922) (5,377) (3,545) (3,219) (1,401) (819)

Non cash adjustments 

(fair value, movement in provisions) (901) (901) – 2,103 – (2,476)

TOTAL OPERATING CASH EXPENSES 

INCLUDING PRODUCTION TAXES 46,629 25,900 20,729 21,009 15,789 16,554

Operating cost other than gold production (1,164) (481) (683) (992) (95) (474)

Operating cost of Darasun mine (3,236) (3,236)    

Silver credits (190) (91) (99) (102) (72) (209)

TOTAL CASH COSTS 42,039 22,092 19,947 19,915 15,622 15,871

OUNCES SOLD 195,313 101,258 94,055 103,950 88,928 88,817

TOTAL CASH COSTS PER OUNCE 215 218 212 192 176 179
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Shareholding Structure at 20 April, 2005
Stock Information

Listing sector/ticker HGM.L

Number of shares in issue 147,336,856

Market capitalisation  US$523,487,850 
Last updated at market closing 20 April, 2005 with £1 = US$1.9

Price high/low High 23 April, 2004 £2.79 US$5.30

 Low 18 January, 2005 £1.81 US$3.44

Liquidity  Average daily volume in 2004 380,000 (233,000 – 2003) 
(excluding OTC trading)

 

Financial Calendar

Ex Dividend date  27 April 2005
Record date  29 April 2005
Post Annual Report  9 May 2005
Dividend Currency Election form posted 13 May 2005
Dividend Currency Election end date  27 May 2005
Foreign Currency Dividend conversion date  27 May 2005
Annual General Meeting   31 May 2005
Dividend payment   3 June 2005
 
Website: www.highlandgold.com
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Resources as at 31 December, 2004
    Contained Highland Gold Ounces
  Ore Gold gold interest attributable to
Project name Classification (tonnes) (g/tonne) (ounces) (%) Highland Gold

Mnogovershinnoye B+C1 (indicated) 6,578,900 9.0 1,914,500  1,914,500

  C2 (inferred) 2,181,000 10.7 752,500  752,500

  Total 8,759,900 9.5 2,667,000 100 2,667,000

Darasun complex:

 Darasun B (measured) 208,000 9.3 62,000  62,000

  C1 (indicated) 2,022,000 14.7 958,500  958,500

  C2 (inferred) 1,520,000 16.7 814,000  814,000

  Total Darasun 3,750,000 15.2 1,834,500 100 1,834,500

 Teremki B (measured) 13,000 16.2 6,800  6,800

  C1 (indicated) 410,000 11.1 144,600  144,600

  C2 (inferred) 141,000 15.2 69,100  69,100

  Total Teremki 564,000 12.2 220,500 100 220,500

 Talatui B (measured) 537,000 3.7 63,000  63,000

  C1 (indicated) 3,059,000 8.5 833,000  833,000

  C2 (inferred) 851,000 8.6 234,000  234,000

  Total Talatui 4,447,000 7.9 1,130,000 100 1,130,000

Darasun complex B (measured) 758,000 5.4 132,000  132,000

  C1 (indicated) 5,491,000 11.0 1,936,000  1,936,000

  C2 (inferred) 2,512,000 13.8 1,117,000  1,117,000

  Total 8,761,000 11.3 3,185,000 100 3,185,000

Novoshirokinskoye B (measured) 680,000 9.0 199,000  192,054

  C1 (indicated) 5,200,000 5.1 857,000  827,091

  C2 (inferred) 3,480,000 3.3 370,000  357,087

  Total 9,360,000 4.7 1,426,000 96.5 1,376,232

Mayskoye C1 (indicated) 6,702,000 12.1 2,605,000  2,605,000

  C2 (inferred) 17,741,000 11.2 6,366,000  6,366,000

  Total 24,443,000 11.5 8,971,000 100 8,971,000

Taseevskoye C1 (indicated) 7,110,000 3.5 788,000  394,000

  C2 (inferred) 7,066,000 2.8 628,000  314,000

  Total 14,176,000 3.1 1,416,000 50 708,000

Sredne-Golgotayskoye C1 (indicated) 471,000 16.7 250,000  125,000

  C2 (inferred) 175,000 12.0 68,000  34,000

  Total 646,000 15.5 318,000 50 159,000

Total    17,983,000  17,066,232

Resource notes
1. The Company does not include any P category Russian Resources into its Resource statement.
2. Resources include mineable ore reserves.
3.  We have only included Resources that have been approved by the Russian State Committee for Reserves (GKZ). The Resources in this table, 

therefore, exclude Resources for Novoshirokinskoye which have been submitted to GKZ for approval but as yet, are unapproved. The new 
submittal to GKZ is 2.1 million ounces of gold equivalents at an average grade of 7.25 g/t. If approved, this would represent a 49 per cent  
increase in reported contained gold Resources and a 54 per cent increase in gold equivalent grade.

4.   Novoshirokinksoye is a polymetallic deposit containing Gold, Silver, Lead, and Zinc in commercial quantities. For resource and reserve reporting 
and for future production accounting, only Gold and Silver will be included as gold equivalents. Lead and Zinc will be treated as by-products.  
In addition to 1.4 million ounces of gold equivalents adopted in the table above, the deposit also contains Resources of 349,650 tonnes of lead  
at a grade of 3.7 per cent and 165,900 tonnes of zinc at a grade of 1.8 per cent. Similar figures for the Resources recently submitted to GKZ  
for approval are 375,000 tonnes of lead at a grade of 4.1 per cent and 166,000 tonnes of zinc at a grade of 1.8 per cent.

5. Mayskoye Resources are being re-calculated by MICON according to JORC standards.
6.  Taseevskoye Resources are in the process of being re-estimated by Snowden Mining Consultants of Vancouver, Canada. Barrick Gold is our  

50 per cent Joint Venture partner. 
7.  Rights to the Sredne Golgotayskoye deposit were acquired in early 2005. Barrick Gold will be our 50 per cent Joint Venture partner.

RESOURCES AND RESERVES
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Reserves as at 31 December, 2004
    Contained Highland Gold Ounces
  Ore Gold gold interest attributable to
Project name Classification (tonnes) (g/tonne) (ounces) (%) Highland Gold

Mnogovershinnoye B (proven) 1,145,000 7.3 270,000  270,000

  C1 (probable) 6,198,000 8.2 1,628,000  1,628,000

  Total 7,343,000 8.0 1,898,000 100 1,898,000

Darasun complex:      

 Darasun C1 (probable) 1,823,000 12.8 749,000 100 749,000

 Teremki C1 (probable) 54,000 18.5 32,000 100 32,000

 Talatui open pit  C1+C2 (probable) 687,000 6.2 137,000 100 137,000

 Talatui underground C1+C2 (probable) 2,675,000 7.6 653,700 100 653,700

Darasun complex C1+C2 (probable) 5,239,000 9.3 1,571,700 100 1,571,700

Novoshirokinskoye B (proven) 820,000 6.7 177,300  171,112

  C1 (probable) 4,700,000 4.5 673,700  650,188

  Total 5,520,000 4.8 851,000 96.5 821,300

Mayskoye C1+C2 (probable) 9,950,000 11.5 3,679,000  3,679,000

  Total 9,950,000 11.5 3,679,000 100 3,679,000

Total    7,999,700  7,970,000

Reserve notes
1. Reserves are calculated using estimates for dilution and losses.
2. Reserves were calculated using the following gold price assumptions: MNV at US$290/oz; Darasun and Mayskoye at US$270/oz.
3.  Reserves for Novoshirokinskoye are based on Resources approved by the Russian State Committee for Reserves (GKZ). The Reserves in this 

table, therefore, are expected to change once GKZ has reviewed the submittal. If the Resources are approved as submitted, the new Reserves  
at Novoshirokinskoye will be 1.2 million ounces of gold equivalents at an average grade of 6.1 g/t. If approved, this would represent a 42 per cent 
increase in reported contained gold Reserves and a 27 per cent increase in the gold equivalent reserve grade.

4.  Novoshirokinksoye is a polymetallic deposit containing Gold, Silver, Lead, and Zinc in commercial quantities. For resource and reserve reporting 
and for future production accounting, only Gold and Silver are included as gold equivalents. Lead and Zinc will be treated as by-products.  
In addition to 851,000 of gold equivalents adopted in the table above, the deposit also contains Reserves of 170,000 tonnes of lead at a grade  
of 3.1 per cent and 75,000 tonnes of zinc at a grade of 1.4 per cent. Should the new Reserves discussed above be adopted, similar figures  
would be 170,000 tonnes of lead at a grade of 3.1 per cent and 101,000 tonnes of zinc at a grade of 1.6 per cent.

5.  Mayskoye Reserves include 5.4 million tonnes of C2 (inferred) resources that have been cut from 16.9 g/t to C1 grades of 15.1 g/t,  
prior to allowing for dilution and losses.

6. Mayskoye Reserves are being re-calculated by MICON according to JORC standards.

Resources (000oz) Reserves (000oz)
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RDM
(MANAGEMENT COMPANY)

HIGHLAND GOLD FINANCE
(INVESTMENT COMPANY)

MAYSKOYE
(OWNER OF THE MAYSKOYE 
DEVELOPMENT PROJECT)

MNV
(OWNER OF THE MNV MINING 
OPERATION)

NOVO
(OWNER OF THE NOVO DEVELOPMENT 
PROJECT) 

DARASUN
(OWNER OF THE DARASUN  
MINING OPERATION)

TRADE HOUSE MNV
(CONSUMER DURABLES  
FOR DARASUN EMPLOYEES)

SK “ENERGY”
(SPORTS CLUB AND HOTEL AT MNV)

ZABAIKALZOLOTO PROJECT
(PROJECT ENGINEERING)

TRADE HOUSE “DAURIA”
(CONSUMER DURABLES  
FOR DARASUN EMPLOYEES)

Highland Gold Mining Limited holds 100 per cent of the equity share capital of the following companies:

Name  Country of incorporation Principal activity and place of business
Stanmix Holding Limited  Cyprus Holding Company, Cyprus
Stanmix Investments Limited  Cyprus Finance Company, Cyprus

Stanmix Holding Limited holds 100 per cent of the equity share capital of the following companies:

Name  Country of incorporation Principal activity and place of business
OOO Russdragmet (RDM)  Russia Management services, Moscow
OOO Highlang Gold Finance   Russia Investment company, Moscow
OOO ZK Mayskoye (Mayskoye)   Russia Mining and mineral exploration, Mayskoye
ZAO Mnogovershinnoye (MNV)   Russia Mining and mineral exploration, Mnogovershinnoye
OOO Darasun Rudnik (Darasun)   Russia Mineral exploration, Darasun

MNV holds the following interests in the equity share capital of the following companies:

Name % Country of incorporation Principal activity and place of business
OAO Novoshirokinskoye Rudnik (Novo) 91.63 Russia Mineral exploration, Novoshirokinskoye
ZAO Trade House Mnogovershinnoye (THM) 100 Russia Consumer durables for MNV employees
OOO SK “Energy”  90 Russia Sports club and hotel at MNV 
OOO Zabaikalzoloto Project 50 Russia Project Engineering, Chita

Darasun holds the following interests in the equity share capital of the following companies:

Name % Country of incorporation Principal activity and place of business
OAO Novoshirokinskoye Rudnik (Novo) 4.88 Russia Mineral exploration, Novoshirokinskoye
OOO Trade House “Dauria” 50 Russia Consumer durables for Darasun employees
OOO Zabaikalzoloto Project 50 Russia Project Engineering, Chita

Novo holds the following interests in the equity share capital of the following companies:

Name % Country of incorporation Principal activity and place of business
OOO Trade House “Dauria”  50 Russia Consumer durables for Darasun employees 

Trade House MNV holds the following interests in the equity share capital of the following companies: 

Name % Country of incorporation Principal activity and place of business
OOO SK “Energy”  10 Russia Sports club and hotel at MNV 

100% 100%100% 92%

100% 50%50%90% 50%

100% 100%

PRINCIPAL GROUP COMPANIES

50%10%

HIGHLAND GOLD MINING LIMITED
(HOLDING COMPANY FOR THE GROUP)

STANMIX INVESTMENTS LIMITED
(INTERMEDIATE FINANCE COMPANY)

STANMIX HOLDING LIMITED
(INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY)

100% 100%

Annual Report & Accounts 2004Highland Gold Mining 55

5%

DIRECTORS, COMPANY SECRETARY AND ADVISERS

Directors
James Havelock Cross
(Non-Executive Chairman)

Ivan Koulakov
(Deputy Chairman)

Dmitri Korobov
(Managing Director)

Gennady Nevidomi
(Production Director)

Denis Alexandrov
(Finance Director)

Duncan Antony Hilder Baxter
(Corporate Affairs Director)

Christopher David Palmer-Tomkinson
(Non-Executive and Senior  
Independant Director)*

Timothy Charles Wadeson
(Non-Executive Director)**
(appointed 9 December, 2004)

David Glanville Fish
(Non-Executive Director)***
(appointed 1 February, 2005)

Alexander John Davidson
(Non-Executive Director)
(appointed 18 April, 2005)

The Lord Daresbury 
(Executive Chairman)
(resigned 8 December, 2004)

Michael Frank Pleming
(Non-Executive)
(appointed 10 February, 2003,  
resigned 18 February, 2004)

All of:
26 New Street
St Helier
Jersey JE2 3RA

Head Office and Registered Office
26 New Street
St Helier
Jersey JE2 3RA

Company Secretary
Bedell Cristin Secretaries Limited
26 New Street
St Helier
Jersey JE2 3RA

Nominated Adviser and Broker
to 20 April, 2004
W.H. Ireland Limited
11 St James’s Square
Manchester M2 6WH

from 20 April, 2004
Cazenove
20 Moorgate
London EC2R 6D8

Auditors to the Company and Group
Ernst & Young LLP
1 More London Place
London SE1 2AF

Solicitors to the Company
as to English Law
Cobbetts
Ship Canal House
King Street
Manchester M2 4WD

as to Russian Law
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Kasmodamianskaya Nab. 52
Bld. 5
115054 Moscow
Russia

as to Jersey Law
Bedell Cristin
PO Box 75
26 New Street
St Helier
Jersey JE4 8PP

Bankers
Royal Bank of Canada
(Channel Islands) Limited
19-21 Broad Street
St Helier
Jersey JE4 8RR

Registrars
Capita IRG Offshore Limited
Victoria Chambers
Liberation Square
1-3 The Esplanade
St Helier
Jersey JE4 0FF

Transfer Agent
Capita Registrars
The Registry
34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham
Kent BR3 4TU

 *  Chairman of both the Remuneration  
Committee and Nominations Committee

 ** Chairman of the Health, Safety and  
  Environmental Committee
 *** Chairman of the Audit Committee



56

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Highland Gold Mining Limited (the Company) will be held on Tuesday 31 May, 2005  
at the 26 New Street, St Helier, Jersey JE2 3RA at 12.00 pm to consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions; 

Ordinary Business

1. That the Directors’ Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December, 2004, be adopted.

2. That a final dividend of US$0.01 for each ordinary share of £0.001 in the Company be declared.

3. That James Cross who retires by rotation as a Director of the Company be re-elected.

4. That Tim Wadeson who retires as a Director of the Company be elected. 

5. That David Fish who retires as a Director of the Company be elected.

6. That Alex Davidson who retires as a Director of the Company be elected.

7. That Christopher Palmer-Tomkinson who retires by rotation as a Director of the Company be re-elected.

8. That Duncan Baxter who retires by rotation as a Director of the Company be re-elected.

9. That Ernst & Young LLP be re-elected as Auditors of the Company, to hold office until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting.

10. That the Directors be authorised to fix the Auditor’s remuneration.

By Order of the Board

Duncan Baxter
Director

18 April, 2005

Notes
1.  A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and, on a poll, vote instead of him. A proxy need not  

be a member of the Company. A form of proxy is enclosed with this notice.
2.   The form of proxy, the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed or an office or notarially certified copy of it, should  

be lodged with the Transfer Agents, Capita Registrars (Proxies), PO Box 25, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4BR, no later than 48 hours before the time 
fixed for the holding of the meeting.

3. Completing and returning a form of proxy will not prevent a member from attending the meeting and voting in person should he so wish.
4.  Director’s Service contracts and register of Directors’ interests in the Share Capital of the Company are available at the registered office of the 

Company for inspection during usual business hours on weekdays from the date of this notice until the date of the meeting and at the meeting 
until the conclusion of the meeting.
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